United Arab Emirates University Scholarworks@UAEU

Theses

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

6-2021

# LIPOCALIN-2 AMELIORATES THE SIGNS AND OUTCOMES OF DIABETES MELLITUS IN AN ANIMAL MODEL

Saeeda Mohammed Al Jaberi

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/all\_theses

Part of the Medical Sciences Commons

# United Arab Emirates University

## College of Medicine and Health Sciences

Department of Biochemistry

# LIPOCALIN-2 AMELIORATES THE SIGNS AND OUTCOMES OF DIABETES MELLITUS IN AN ANIMAL MODEL

Saeeda Mohammed Al Jaberi

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Sciences (Biochemistry and Molecular Biology)

Under the Supervision of Professor Ernest Adeghate

June 2021

#### **Declaration of Original Work**

I, Saeeda Mohammed Al Jaberi, the undersigned, a graduate student at the United Arab Emirates University (UAEU), and the author of this thesis entitled "*Lipocalin-2 Ameliorates the Signs and Outcomes of Diabetes Mellitus in an Animal Model*", hereby, solemnly declare that this thesis is my own original research work that has been done and prepared by me under the supervision of Professor Ernest Adeghate, in the College of Medicine and Health Sciences at UAEU. This work has not previously formed the basis for the award of any academic degree, diploma or a similar title at this or any other university. Any materials borrowed from other sources (whether published or unpublished) and relied upon or included in my thesis have been properly cited and acknowledged in accordance with appropriate academic conventions. I further declare that there is no potential conflict of interest with respect to the research, data collection, authorship, presentation and/or publication of this thesis.

L-Student's Signature:

Date: 18/6/2021

Copyright © 2021 Saeeda Mohammed Al Jaberi All Rights Reserved

#### **Approval of the Master Thesis**

This Master Thesis is approved by the following Examining Committee Members:

 Advisor (Committee Chair): Prof. Ernest Adeghate Title: Professor

Department of Anatomy College of Medicine & Health Sciences

Signature\_\_\_\_\_

Date 08 June 2021

2) Member: Prof. Haider Raza

Title: Professor

Department of Biochemistry

College of Medicine & Health Sciences

Carendoria Signature

Date 08 June 2021

3) Member (External Examiner): Prof. Barna Vásárhelyi Title: Professor
Department of Laboratory Medicine Institution: Semmelweis University, Hungary
Signature \_\_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_ 08 June 2021\_\_\_\_\_ This Master Thesis is accepted by:

Acting Dean of the College of Medicine and Health Sciences: Professor Juma Alkaabi

Signature	WAE
0	

Date 26/08/2021

Dean of the College of Graduate Studies: Professor Ali Al-Marzouqi

Signature	Ali Hassan &

Date 29/08/2021

Copy \_\_\_\_ of \_\_\_\_

#### Abstract

Lipocalin-2 (LCN2) is a new adipocytokine consisting of 198 amino acids. It is also referred to as neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, siderocalin, uterocalin, al-microglobulin related protein, or 24p3. LCN2 belongs to a large group of transport proteins that are capable of carrying small and lipid soluble molecules in blood circulation. It has two membrane receptors, megalin/glycoprotein GP330, which binds human LCN2 and SLC22A17 or 24p3R, which forms complexes with mouse Lcn2 protein. LCN2 is encoded by a gene located at chromosome locus 9q34.11. LCN2 was initially isolated from neutrophil granules released at site of infection and inflammation in human and from mouse kidney cells. LCN2 kills bacteria by iron depletion during antibacterial innate immune response via sequestering bacterial ferric siderophores enterobactin (Ent). It has a protective role in infection, inflammation, injury and other forms of cellular stress. In addition, it is able to interact with and stabilize matrix metalloproteinase-9 in human neutrophils. Tissue localization and the effect of LCN2 were studied in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats using morphological, physiological, biochemical and molecular biology techniques. This study shows that LCN2 is co-localized with insulin in normal and diabetic pancreatic β-cells. In addition, LCN2 significantly reduced the plasma levels of alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase, bilirubin, cholestrol, triglycerides, low density lipoprotein and improved the levels of high density lipoprotein and total protein after the onset of diabetes. LCN2 treatment decreased the plasma levels of BUN, Urea and LIPC in diabetic animals. Moreover, the levels of insulin, C-peptide, amylin and GIP were significantly increased in diabetic rats treated with LCN2. Furthermore, LCN2 showed a significant antioxidant activity by increasing glutathione reductase, super oxide dismutase and catalase levels in pancreatic tissue of normal and diabetic animals, as well as their levels in the serum. In vitro observations show that LCN2 at a concentration of 10<sup>-8</sup> M and 10<sup>-12</sup> M caused large and significant increases in insulin release from the INS-1 rat insulinoma cell line. In conclusion, LCN2 ameliorates the acute and chronic complications of diabetes mellitus and appears to be a promising adjuvant therapy in the management of DM.

**Keywords:** Diabetes mellitus, lipocalin-2, metabolic parameters, rat, hormones, electron microscopy.

#### **Title and Abstract (in Arabic)**

# يخفف ليبوكالين-2 علامات ونتائج مرض السكري في نموذج حيواني لمرض السكري الملخص

ليبوكالين-2 مكون من 198 حمض أميني ويشار اليه أيضا بالجيلاتينيز المرتبط بالليبوكالين، سايدر وكالين و يوتير وكالين. ليبوكالين-2 ينتمي لعائلة الليبوكالين وهي مجموعة من البروتينات التي تنقل الجزيئات الصغيرة مثل ااحماض الدهنية، البروستاجلاندين، الريتينويدات، المنشطات والهرمونات. لدى الليبوكالين-2 اثنين من المستقبلات الغشائية المستقبل 24 بي 3 و المستقبل ميجالين. تم عزل ليبوكالين-2 في البداية من حبيبات الخلايا التي تم اطلاقها في موقع العدوي والالتهاب فالانسان ومن خلايا الكلي فالفئران. ليبوكالين-2 له دور وقائي فالعدوي والالتهابات ويقتل البكتيريا عن طريق استنفاذ الحديد، بالإضافة الى ذلك فهو قادر على التفاعل مع ميتالوبر وتينيز -9. تمت در اسة ليبوكالين-2 وتأثير ، على الانسجة والخلايا في الفئر ان المصابة بداء السكرى عن طريق الستربتوزوتوسين. باستخدام تقنيات البولوجيا المورفولوجية أظهرت الدراسة انه يتم تواجد الليبوكالين-2 مع الانسولين في خلايا البنكرياس الطبيعية وبنكرياس الفئران المصابة بالسكرى. بالإضافة بعد ظهور مرض السكرى العلاج عن طريق ليبوكالين-2 قادر بشكل كبير على خفض مستويات البلازما للكوليسترول، ترايقليسيرايد، ليبوبروتين منخفض الكثافة، بيليروبين، وانزيمات الكبد ك الانين امينوتر انسفير ايز و اسبر اتيت امونوتر انسفيز. و أيضا من تحسين مستويات البروتين الكلى و تمكن أيضا من رفع مستويات الانسولين. بالإضافة الى ذلك العلاج مع ليبوكالين-2 أظهر نشاطًا كبيرًا كمضاد للأكسدة عن طريق رفع مستويات الانزيمات المضادة للأكسدة في البلازما وأنسجة البنكرياس. أظهرت دراساتنا المختبرية أن مصل الليبوكالين-2 تسبب بزيادات كبيره وهامة في افراز الانسولين من خط خلايا الانسولين بتركيز 12-12 و 8-10. في الختام يخفف ليبوكالين-2 المضاعفات الحادة والمزمنة لمرض السكري ويبدو انه علاج مساعد واعد في إدارة مرض السكري.

مفاهيم البحث الرئيسية: مرض السكري، ليبوكالين-2، الجرذان، الهرمونات، مؤشرات الايض، المجهر الاليكتروني.

#### Acknowledgements

My thanks go to Prof. Ernest Adeghate whose enthusiasm, guidance and endless support helped me in finishing up this journey. I would also like to thank all members of the Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology at the United Arab Emirates University for assisting me throughout my studies and research. My special thanks are extended to the College of Medicine and Health Sciences and the United Arab Emirates University for supplying us with grants to run our study. I would also like to thank Ms. Crystal D'Souza for her assistance in the technical work and for her guidance.

Special thanks go to my family and friends who helped me along the way.

Dedication

To my beloved parents and family

## **Table of Contents**

Title
Declaration of Original Workii
Copyrightiii
Approval of the Master Thesisiv
Abstract
Title and Abstract (in Arabic)
Acknowledgements
Dedicationix
Table of Contents x
List of Tablesxiii
List of Figures xiv
List of Abbreviationsxv
Chapter 1: Introduction
1.3 DM Classification and Diagnosis
1.3.1 Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
1.3.2 Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) 4
1.3.3 Islet Morphology5
1.3.4 Characteristics of Human B- Cells in T1DM and T2DM6
1.4 Management of Diabetes Mellitus9
1.4.1 Lifestyle Modification9
1.4.2 Pharmacotherapy9
1.5 Peptides as Therapeutic Agents13
1.6 Lipocalin-2 14
1.6.1 Structure
1.6.2 Tissue Distribution of Lipocalin 2 17
1.6.3 Inductors of Lipocalin-2 Expression
1.6.4 Inhibitor of Lipocalin-2 Expression
1.6.5 Controversial Factors in LCN2 Expression
1.6.6 Lipocalin-2, Obesity and Insulin Resistance
1.6.7 LCN2 Gene and Diabetes
Chapter 2: Aims, Hypothesis and Objectives
2.1 Hypothesis
2.2 Aim

2.3 Objectives	39
Chapter 3: Materials and Methods	41
3.1 Animal Model	41
3.2 Establishing the Experimental Diabetes Model	41
3.3 Experimental Design	42
3.4 Blood/Tissue Collection and Tissue Processing	43
3.5 Immunofluorescence Staining of Paraffin Sections	44
3.6 Immunoelectron Microscopy	46
3.7 Markers of Oxidative Stress	46
3.8 Biochemical and Peptide Hormone Analysis	47
3.8.1 Biochemical Analysis Using Cobas®	47
3.8.2 Peptide Hormone Analysis Using Magpix®	47
3.9 Cell culture, Treatment, and Insulin Secretion	48
3.10 SDS-PAGE and Western Blot Analysis	48
3.11 Statistical Analysis	49
Chanter 4: Results	51
4 1 Metabolic Parameters	51 51
4.1.1 Body Weight	51 51
4.1.2 Glucose Level	51 52
4 1 3 IPGTT	32 52
4.2 Insulin Release	52 53
4.3 Immunohistochemical Localization of LCN2	54
4.3.1 Co-localization Analysis of LCN2 with Insulin in Pancreas	54
4.3.2 Co-localization Analysis of LCN2 with Glucagon in Pancreas	55
4.4 Electron Microscopy	56
4.5 Markers of Oxidative Stress	58
4.6 Effects of LCN2 on Biochemical Parameters	62
4.6.1 Liver Function Test	62
4.6.2 Kidney Function Test	64
4.6.3 Lipid Profile	65
4.7 Peptide Hormones Analysis	67
4.8 Insulin Signaling Pathway	69
Chapter 5: Discussion	71
5 1 Metabolic Parameters	71
5.1.1 Body Weight	71
5.1.2 Glucose Levels	71
5.1.3 Intraperitoneal Glucose Tolerance Test (IPGTT)	72
5.2 Effects of LCN2 on Insulin Secretion In Vitro	72
5.3 Immunohistochemical Localization of LCN2.	72
5.4 Distribution of Lipocalin-2 (LCN2) in Cytoplasmic Organelles	,2
of Islet Cells EM	73
5.5 Effects of LCN2 on Antioxidant Enzymes Activities in Serum	74

5.6 Effect of LCN2 on Biochemical Parameters	76
5.6.1 Liver and Kidney Function	76
5.6.2 Lipid Profile	78
5.7 Effects of LCN2 Treatment on Peptide Hormones of Normal	
and Diabetic Animals	78
5.8 Effects of LCN2 Treatment on Inflammatory Markers of Normal	
and Diabetic Animals	81
5.9 Insulin Signaling Pathway	82
Chapter 6: Conclusion	84
Chapter 7: Limitations	85
Chapter 8: Advancement in the Field	86
References	87

### List of Tables

Table 1: Tissue distribution of altered lipocalin-2 expression in human, rat and	
mouse in organ disorders	24
Table 2: Primary and secondary antibodies used in IHC and their dilutions	45
Table 3: Primary and secondary antibodies used in WB analysis and their	
dilutions	49

## List of Figures

Figure 1: Human, mouse and rat LCN2 domain architecture showing high	
degree of similarity	17
Figure 2: Regulation of LCN2 expression by NF-KB	30
Figure 3: Regulation of LCN2 expression by ERK signaling pathway	32
Figure 4: Regulation of LCN2 expression by JAK-STAT signaling pathway	34
Figure 5: Schematic diagram of the animal groups in the study	42
Figure 6: Effects of LCN2 treatment on weight in normal and diabetic animals	51
Figure 7: Effects of LCN2 on fasting plasma glucose levels in normal and	
diabetic animals	52
Figure 8: Effects of lipocalin-2 on IPGTT after 2 weeks of treatment of normal	
and diabetic animals	53
Figure 9: The effect of different concentrations of LCN2 in insulin secretion in	
INS-1 rat insulinoma cell line	54
Figure 10: Co-localization of LCN2 with insulin in pancreatic islet cells of	
normal and diabetic rats	55
Figure 11: Co-localization of LCN2 with glucagon in pancreatic islet cells of	
normal and diabetic rats	56
Figure 12: Electron micrograph showing (a) $\beta$ -cell of normal rat treated with	
saline with intact secretory granules and (b) $\beta$ -cell of normal rat	
treated with LCN2.	57
Figure 13: Electron micrograph showing (a) $\beta$ -cell of diabetic rat treated with	
saline with deformed secretory granules and (b) $\beta$ -cell of diabetic	
rat treated with LCN2	58
Figure 14: Effects of LCN2 on SOD and GSH reductase in serum	59
Figure 15: Effects of LCN2 on GSH reductase in pancreas of normal and	
diabetic rats	60
Figure 16: Effects of LCN2 on SOD in pancreas of normal and diabetic rats	61
Figure 17: Effects of LCN2 on catalase in pancreas of normal and diabetic	
rats	62
Figure 18: LCN2 effect on AST and ALT.	63
Figure 19: shows a significant increase in ALP and Bilirubin levels in diabetic	
control group compared to LCN2 treated and normal animals	64
Figure 20: Effects of LCN2 on urea, BUN and creatinine	65
Figure 21: Effects of LCN2 on LDL, TG, TC, HDL and LIPC	66
Figure 22: Effects of LCN2 on GIP and GLP-1	68
Figure 23: Effects of LCN2 on Amylin and Insulin	68
Figure 24: Effects of LCN2 on C-peptide	68
Figure 25: Effects of LCN2 on Leptin	69
Figure 26: Effects of LCN2 on IL-6 and MCP-1	69
Figure 27: Effect of LCN2 on downstream targets of insulin pathway	70

## List of Abbreviations

AST	Aspartate Aminotransferase
ALT	Alanine Aminotransferase
CAT	Catalase
CHOL	Cholesterol
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
DPP-4	Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4
EM	Electron Microscope
ERK	Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase
FBG	Fasting Blood Glucose
GIP	Gastric Inhibitory Peptide
GLP-1	Glucagon Like Peptide 1
GSH red	Glutathione Reductase
GTT	Glucose Tolerance Test
HbA1C	Glycated Hemoglobin
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL-6	Interlukein-6
LCN2	Lipocalin-2
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
MCP-1	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor Kappa B
PBS	Phosphate-buffered Saline
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SOD	Superoxide Dismutase

STAT3	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3
STZ	Streptozotocin
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes
TG	Triglycerides

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### **1.1 Diabetes Mellitus**

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a complex and heterogeneous group of endocrine disorders. All types of diabetes mellitus share hyperglycemia as a common outcome and disturbances of glucose, lipid, and protein metabolism. Absolute or partial loss of insulin action and/or insulin secretion (Bradley et al., 1998), and depletion in functional  $\beta$ - cell mass are considered to be the key mechanisms that lead to the development of the disease (Cnop et al., 2005). The American Diabetes Association (ADA) defines type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) as autoimmune  $\beta$ -cell destruction, usually leading to absolute insulin deficiency. ADA refers to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) as a progressive loss of  $\beta$ -cell insulin secretion, frequently occurring on the background of insulin resistance, and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) as diabetes diagnosed in the second or third trimester of pregnancy that was not clearly overt diabetes prior to gestation. Other types of diabetes include MODY, pancreatic diabetes, and drug- or chemical-induced diabetes. All types are diagnosed on the basis of hyperglycemia, however, each type has different diagnostic marker. In type 1, which results from autoimmune destruction of beta cells, the presence of pancreatic autoantibodies in the blood is an important diagnostic marker. MODY which is a monogenic type of diabetes caused by a single gene defects, sequencing is used as a diagnostic test to sequence the known monogenic diabetes genes to determine the pathological variant. Haemochromatosis, an inherited condition leading to iron overload and accumulation can damage multiple organs including the pancreas if not treated. This condition may lead to DM and can be diagnosed by ferritin and gene sequencing. Cushing syndrome, which is a hormonal disorder due to a long-term

exposure to high amounts of cortisol may induce hyperglycemia and this type of diabetes can be diagnosed using dexamethasone suppression test. However, in type 2 diabetes there is no specific diagnostic test to identify it other than the exclusion of the other causes. Classifying patients with diabetes mellitus into subgroups based on disease progression and risk of complications are being investigated (Ahlqvist et al., 2018; Pearson, 2019).

#### 1.2 Epidemiology of DM

Based on the International Diabetes Federation, 9.3% of the adult population aged 20-79 years globally are considered diabetic which is equivalent to 463 million in which the majority 79.4% account for individuals from low to middle income regions. The prevalence of the disease is estimated to further increase to 578.4 million by 2030 and by 2045, 700.2 million adults aged 20 - 79 years, will suffer from diabetes (Atlas, 2019). Among all individuals diagnosed with diabetes, only 10 to 15% have T1DM, and the majority of the diagnosed population is considered type 2 diabetic which is the most common form. The prevalence of type 1 diabetes is increasing among all age groups specifically in children which is doubling every 25 years (Patterson et al., 2019; Pociot & Lernmark, 2016). It is estimated that approximately 90,000 children are diagnosed yearly. Recently, it has been shown that DM causes an average loss of 11 to 12 years of life expectancy (Livingstone et al., 2015). This loss increases in patients who developed the disease earlier in life. For example, patients who are diagnosed before the age of 15 years live 2.5 years less than those diagnosed after the age of 30 years.

#### **1.3 DM Classification and Diagnosis**

#### 1.3.1 Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

T1DM, also known as insulin dependent diabetes, juvenile-onset diabetes and ketosis-prone diabetes is caused by autoimmune-mediated β-cell destruction and apoptosis, leading to the loss of  $\beta$ -cell ability to produce insulin and leading to a lifelong need for treatment with exogenous insulin. The disease is the consequence of invading or resident macrophages and T cells, which secretes chemokines and cytokines in the islet microenvironment and deliver cell-cell pro-apoptotic signals, or by stressed, injured or dying  $\beta$ - cells that attract and activate immune cells to the islets (Eizirik et al., 2009; Gonzalez-Duque et al., 2018). The etiology of  $\beta$ -cell-targeted autoimmunity depends on the patient's genetic background, age and multiple environmental factors, including viral infections and diet. This, in majority of cases occurs years before the eventual development of hyperglycemia and the disease symptoms (DiMeglio et al., 2018; Ilonen et al., 2019). Pathogenic association between immune cells and  $\beta$ - cells leads to inflammation and increased  $\beta$ - cell destruction by apoptosis (Eizirik et al., 2009; DiMeglio et al., 2018; Todd, 2010). Several months to years before T1DM onset the presence of autoantibodies is detected, which acts as biomarkers for the development of autoimmunity. Those autoantibodies associated with the disease onset, targets most of the islet antigens including insulin and its precursor preproinsulin (PPI), 65 kDa glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65; also known as GAD2), insulinoma-associated protein 2 (IA-2) and zinc transporter 8 (ZNT8) (Gonzalez-Duque et al., 2018; Thomaidou et al., 2018; DiMeglio et al., 2018). Individuals with specific HLA genotypes (which encode MHC proteins) - that is, HLA-DR and HLA-DQ genotypes (HLADR-DQ) — have an increased risk of developing two or more autoantibodies and T1DM (DiMeglio et al., 2018; Quispe-Tintaya, 2017). Anti-insulin or anti-GAD65 β-cell autoantibodies are the earliest autoantibodies to appear during childhood, which target insulin and GAD65. However, rarely IA-2 autoantibody or ZNT8 autoantibody are detected first (Thomaidou et al., 2018; DiMeglio et al., 2018). What influences the development of the first  $\beta$ -cell targeting autoantibodies is still investigated in different follow-up studies of children from birth (Gonzalez-Duque et al., 2018; Ilonen et al., 2019; Todd, 2010). A staging classification system for the pathogenesis of T1DM has been suggested based on the detection of autoantibodies, and the progression to  $\beta$ -cell destruction. The first stage recognized is the presence of  $\beta$ - cell autoantibodies in normoglycemic people, the second stage shows dysglycemia in the presence of  $\beta$ - cell autoimmunity, and the third stage as clinical T1DM due to the symptoms associated with hyperglycemia. Up to date T1DM cannot be prevented or completely cured via currently available therapeutic approaches (DiMeglio et al., 2018; Greenbaum et al., 2018). However a delay on disease establishment has been detected by approximately 2 years when using monoclonal antibody against CD3 which is present on the surface of CD8+T cells that dominate the pancreatic immune infiltrated cells leading to  $\beta$ -cell destruction in T1DM in stage 2 patients (Herold et al., 2019).

#### 1.3.2 Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM)

T2DM accounts for the majority, more than 80% of all diagnosed diabetic patients. The pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is caused by two key disturbances one is relative insulin deficiency due to  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction and the other is insulin resistance (Weyer et al., 1999; Lyssenko et al., 2005; Cnop et al., 2007). Multiple key risk factors lead to the rise in the global epidemic of type 2 diabetes mellitus including obesity, aging, poor activity, sedentary lifestyle and energy dense diets (Zheng et al., 2018). These have resulted in four-fold rise in the number of patients during the last 40 years (Risk & Collaboration, 2016). T2DM is linked with significant morbidity and mortality. On average 6 years loss in life span is observed, and in cases of disease onset at younger age the loss in life expectancy elevates up to 12 years (Sattar et al., 2019). However, the management of the chronic complications has improved over time. No clear diagnostic criteria exist for T2DM which makes it an ill-defined form of the disease. Clustering approaches using age at diagnosis, BMI, HbA1c, HOMA estimates of  $\beta$ - cell function and insulin resistance, and glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies have subtyped patients into moderate or severe forms of T2DM, with a predominance of insulin resistance or insulinopenia (Ahlqvist et al., 2018).

#### **1.3.3 Islet Morphology**

Knowledge on islet morphology and the pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus are obtained from restricted studies of human pancreas collected at necropsy and on murine models, such as non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, ob/ob and db/db mouse models of obesity and T2DM, and the GK rat model of T2DM. Data from these models have established diabetic model for the human disease to a limited extent. The emerging of the Network for Pancreatic Donors with Diabetes (Pugliese et al., 2014) in addition, the systematic organization of the Exeter Archival Diabetes Biobank provided access to ~500 pancreas in good condition from patient with T1DM and non-diabetic individuals as controls from both necropsy and organ donors, representing variant ages of disease onset and duration (Rodriguez-Calvo et al., 2018). Various methods, including the integrated analysis of histology, physiology, mass cytometry,

genomics and immunology of T1DM organ donors (Kaestner et al., 2019), provides better ways to collect information from these samples.

#### 1.3.4 Characteristics of Human B- Cells in T1DM and T2DM

Key findings obtained from histological studies conducted on T1DM patients, revealed elevated heterogeneity of inflammation and  $\beta$ - cell destruction. Some cell clusters contain islets lacking  $\beta$ -cells, and other clusters have almost normal-looking islets and/or β- cell content, with fewer infiltrating immune cells (Rodriguez-Calvo et al., 2018; Morgan & Richardson, 2018). Moreover, hyperexpression of class I HLA (Morgan & Richardson, 2018) and  $\beta$ - cell stress markers such as ER stress (Marhfour et al., 2012) were detected particularly in insulin-expressing islets. In T1DM patients who are diagnosed within 0-6 years after onset,  $\beta$ - cells are found to express markers of cellular aging, as CDKN1A and  $\beta$ -galactosidase, as well as IL-6 and serpine 1, suggesting an inflammatory ageing-associated secretory phenotype (Thompson et al., 2019). In a study conducted on T1DM mouse, clearance of senescent  $\beta$ - cells decreases the incidence of diabetes mellitus (Thompson et al., 2019). In another study of human T1DM, loss of the  $\beta$ -cell markers insulin, proinsulin and amylin, precedes  $\beta$ -cell death (Damond et al., 2020). Islets extracted from NOD mice exposed to severe insulitis are non-functional during extraction, but they become functional once freed from the infiltrating immune cells in 7 days in culture (Strandell et al., 1990). Moreover, islets extracted from patients with T1DM after 5-6 days in culture has regained their function (Krogvold et al., 2015; Marchetti et al., 2000). Different studies showed impairment of  $\alpha$  cell gene expression and function in T1DM patients islets and cells (Brissova et al., 2018; Mastracci et al., 2018) in comparison with islets from nondiabetic individuals. Alpha cells are not targeted by the autoimmune destruction in T1DM and shows resistance to stress stimulated by metabolic disorders (Brissova et al., 2018; Marroqui, Masini, et al., 2015) or virus infection (Marroqui, Lopes, et al., 2015) compared to  $\beta$ - cells. However, the causes of  $\alpha$ -cell impairment and dysfunction require further investigations, but the change in islet morphology and loss of  $\beta$ - cell- $\alpha$ - cell contacts is believed to have an influence. Insulin secretion at low levels, is found in 80% T1DM patients with average of 21 years duration of the disease, as evaluated by urinary C-peptide. Moreover, T1DM patients with no C-peptide detection were still producing proinsulin (Sims et al., 2019). Recent studies suggest that other islet cells in specific  $\alpha$ -cells begins to express low levels of insulin after  $\beta$ -cell destruction (Lam et al., 2019). This is supported by findings in murine study showing trans-differentiation of  $\alpha$ -cells to  $\beta$ -cells after  $\beta$ - cell extraction (Thorel et al., 2010) or by inhibiting the  $\alpha$ -cell transcription factor ARX (Courtney et al., 2013). The immune system plays key role in  $\beta$ - cell function and survival (Eizirik et al., 2009). The presence of cytokines at different phases of insulitis in the islet environment is significantly upregulated. For instance during the early stages of inflammation, type I interferons level is high, and at later stages, the blood concentration of IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and IL-17 rises (Eizirik et al., 2009). This triggers ER stress, changes in alternative splicing (Ortis et al., 2010; Eizirik et al., 2012) and elevation of HLA class I (Morgan & Richardson, 2018; Marroqui et al., 2017). All of these, in addition to elevated  $\beta$ -cell synthesis of chemokines and cell death, are the cause of increased  $\beta$ -cell neoantigens in response to infiltrating immune cells, leading to increase in the immune assault (Eizirik et al., 2009; Gonzalez-Duque et al., 2018).

In T2DM, pancreatic islets experience a loss of  $\beta$ -cell mass ranging from 25– 60%, elevated  $\beta$ - cell apoptosis, decreased pancreatic insulin and higher amyloid deposition by islet amyloid polypeptide which in turn leads to ER stress (Raleigh et al., 2017) compared with non-diabetic individual (Rahier et al., 2008; Del Guerra et al., 2005). Alpha cell mass overall is unaltered in T2DM (Henquin & Rahier, 2011) and  $\beta$ -cell mass loss is minimal in new onset cases and increases with longer duration of the disease (Rahier et al., 2008). However,  $\beta$ - cell function is ultimately impaired at T2DM onset, it is predicted to decline by ~80% (Cnop et al., 2007; Cnop et al., 2007; Utzschneider et al., 2009). These findings indicate that  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction is a primary player in T2DM pathogenesis and happens independently of  $\beta$ -cell loss. The causes for the impairment of  $\beta$ -cell function and  $\beta$ -cell survival in T1DM and T2DM differs. For instance, cytokines can stimulate  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction and death in T1DM, while free fatty acids (FFAs) could induce ER stress and cause  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction and destruction in T2DM. However, these effects could be exerted through similar downstream signal transduction pathways. Large body of evidence indicates that increased  $\beta$ -cell ageing arises in T2DM.  $\beta$ - cells are long lived cells with restricted neogenesis and replication. As demonstrated by (Tamura et al., 2016) adult  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ cells telomere shortening is highly detected before the age of 20 years and decreases thereafter, indicating replicative senescence of postmitotic adult  $\beta$ - cells. Increased telomere exhaustion was detected in β-cells in T2DM (Tamura et al., 2014). β- cells cellular aging is characterized by acid  $\beta$ - galactosidase and p16INK4A expression which in turn induces the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and loss of  $\beta$ - cell markers. In type 2 diabetic patient islets, elevated  $\beta$ - galactosidase expression in cells were noticed and  $\beta$ -cell expressing  $\beta$ -galactosidase showed upregulation in p16INK4A, CCL4 and IL-6 expression (Cristina et al., 2019). However, cellular aging and senescence contribution to  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction in T2DM is still unclear.

#### **1.4 Management of Diabetes Mellitus**

#### 1.4.1 Lifestyle Modification

The lifestyle of an individual plays an important role in the person's health, especially the type and quality of the food consumed. Ingestion of nutrients with low glycemic index in key to reducing diabesity (Brand-Miller et al., 2003). It has been reported that physical inactivity and/or a sedentary lifestyle are major risk factors for the development of obesity and insulin resistance. Physical activity coupled with dietary modification are beneficial to improving reducing obesity and increasing insulin sensitivity in target cells such as muscle and liver (Horton, 1988). A meta-analysis on the effects of low-carbohydrate diets on CVD risk factors showed a large and significant decrease in total body weight, BMI, abdominal circumference, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic), triglycerides, fasting glucose, HbA1C, and CRP. All of these were also associated with increased levels in the level of HDL, the good cholesterol (Santos et al., 2012). This beneficial effect of lifestyle modification and diet showed intense physical activity coupled with appropriate diet resulted in significant weight reduction and decreased levels of glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c).

#### 1.4.2 Pharmacotherapy

A large number of both oral and injectable drug classes are available to control both types of DM. Hyperglycemia, the hallmark of the disease, is a result of different metabolic events. In type 2 diabetes, this include diminished insulin secretion and elevation in glucagon production by the pancreatic islet cells, increased hepatic output of glucose, impairment of GLP-1 and GIP secretion and/or action, elevation in insulin resistance and decline in  $\beta$ -cell mass and function (Weyer et al., 1999; Dunning & Gerich, 2007; Toft-Nielsen et al., 2001).

#### 1.4.2.1 Insulin

In T1DM, after meal ingestion, insulin secretion is not stimulated, however, glucagon secretion is maintained. Without proper exogenous insulin replacement, the endogenous glucose production will not be controlled, glycogen synthesis will be decreased with elevation in systemic glucose levels. Administration of exogenous insulin mimics the native insulin hormone and normalizes all these abnormalities. Glargine and detemir are two widely used long acting human insulin analogues. Detemir absorption is slow from the subcutaneous tissue and circulation due to the fatty acid chain, which binds to circulating albumin. Glargine on the other hand is injected as an acidic solution, in neutral PH crystals are formed and they are absorbed slowly. Both are used once either morning or evening to achieve normal glucose levels, with a decreased hypoglycemic risk. Mealtime insulin, which are short-acting insulin preparations include glulisine, aspart and lispro. These insulin preparations are administered at meals time. They have shown reduced hypo- and hyperglycemia states, however, several clinical trials showed a modest reduction on HbA1c by these agents (Kaufman, 2003).

#### 1.4.2.2 Metformin

Metformin is an insulin sensitizer commonly used for the treatment of T2DM in adult and children. It is one of the most studied and prescribed drug in the global pharmaceutical market. Metformin can reduce weight and HbA1c when combined with lifestyle interventions (Meneghini et al., 2011; Domecq et al., 2015). Metformin is able to reduce weight because it blocks hepatic gluconeogenesis, reduces appetite, stimulates and increases insulin sensitivity in all peripheral tissues. It is not completely clear how metformin exerts its effect, however, it has been reported that it inhibits mitochondrial respiratory chain and cAMP synthesis with a concomitant reduction in protein kinase A activity. The activity of mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenasea and adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK) are also modified accordingly (Zhou et al., 2001; Madiraju et al., 2014; Rena et al., 2013). A clinical trial conducted by the Diabetes Prevention Program showed that metformin reduced the incidence of type 2 diabetes by 31% in high risk obese patients who had grossly impaired glucose tolerance (Aroda et al., 2017). Metformin is also a useful drug in the treatment of a large variety of health problems associated with diabesity. Metformin, combined with lifestyle modification is used in the treatment polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) (Naderpoor et al., 2015), gestational diabetes mellitus (Jiang et al., 2015), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (Chalasani et al., 2012), and even cancer (Wu et al., 2015).

#### 1.4.2.3 α-Glucosidase Inhibitors

Acarbose, voglibose and miglitol are the three main drugs used to inhibit  $\alpha$ glucosidase found in the epithelium of the small intestine. This enzyme cleaves monosaccharides from polysaccharides to promote their absorption by the gut epithelium.  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitors thus prevent the absorption of carbohydrate from the small intestine. In a new meta-analysis study,  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitors significantly reduced HbA1c, 2-h postprandial glucose and bodyweight when compared to placebo. Unfortunately, the high prevalence of flatulence and diarrhea has prevented the wide use of this class of drugs (Gao et al., 2018).

#### 1.4.2.4 Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 (DPP-4) Inhibitors

Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors increase the level of incretin by inhibiting DPP-4, the enzyme that degrades GLP-1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP). (Herman et al., 2006). GLP-1 and GIP enhance glucose-dependent pancreatic insulin response, suppress glucagon release, and increase satiety (Ahrén, 2013; Herman et al., 2006). Several clinical and pre-clinical studies have shown that the outcome of the signs and symptoms of DM is better after the use of DPP-4 inhibitors. DPP-4 inhibitors promote glycemic control, insulin secretion, and  $\beta$ -cell function in animal models (Pospisilik et al., 2002) and in subjects with T2DM (Herman et al., 2006). In patients with type 2 diabetes, DPP-4 inhibitors reduced postprandial glucose, fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c levels with low risk of hypoglycemia and weight gain. It also promote pancreatic beta cell function with no association with insulin resistance (Lyu et al., 2017). Currently available DPP-4 inhibitors include but not limited to sitagliptin, vildagliptin, saxagliptin, linagliptin, alogliptin, gemigliptin, trelagliptin, omarigliptin, evogliptin, gosogliptin, teneligliptin and anagliptin. With the use of this drug, no weight gain has been detected and an average HbA1c decrease of 0.5–1.0% has been reported (Pappachan, 2015).

#### 1.4.2.5 GLP-1 Receptor Agonists

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) are two gut secreted peptide hormones from L-cells and K-cells, respectively. They are released following a meal ingestion and play a key role in promoting insulin secretion and synthesis based on glucose levels. In addition, they suppress glucagon production (Baggio & Drucker, 2007) and both hormones have an additive affect. The GLP-1 agonists are structurally different from the endogenous GLP-1, and this change in the structure facilitate longer half-lives and resistance to the DPP-4 activity, which increases the activity of these agonists. GLP-1 agonists have the same effect as the endogenous hormone, they lower blood glucose in a dosedependent manner. In addition, they also affect fat accumulation and in part are associated with weight loss (Baggio & Drucker, 2007; Flint et al., 1998; Radford, 1990). Moreover, several clinical studies indicates that using GLP-1 receptor agonists lowers systolic blood pressure and exerts cardiovascular protection affect (Fonseca et al., 2014; Russell-Jones et al., 2009; Marre et al., 2009). Exenatide and liraglutide are the two drug forms of GLP-1 receptor agonists available in the market. Exenatide is the first GLP-1 receptor agonists to be approved in USA as therapeutic agent for the treatment of T2DM patients. It is a 39-amino acid synthetic peptide that is 53% homologous to human endogenous GLP-1 (Diego et al., 2006; Nielsen et al., 2004). While liraglutide is 97% homologous to the endogenous human GLP-1, with one amino acid substitution which increases its plasma half-life up to 13 hours (Colagiuri, 2010). Exenatide is injected two times daily one-hour prior to meals and liraglutide is administrated once-daily (Diego et al., 2006).

#### **1.5 Peptides as Therapeutic Agents**

Peptides are naturally occurring compounds which are made of short chain of amino acids that exert their function by their interaction with their specific receptors followed by different intracellular events (Vlieghe et al., 2010). The use of peptides as therapeutic agents has been promising for the treatment of several diseases including inflammatory diseases, cancer, cardiovascular diseases, and diabetes mellitus. Oxytocin is the first peptide to be synthesized in 1953 however, in 1982, recombinant human insulin was the first peptide to be approved for clinical use (Puttagunta & Toth, 1998). Currently about 60 peptide drugs are approved and available in the market. The number of peptides investigated as therapeutic agents preclinically and entering clinical trials is increasing (Dinca et al., 2016). The challenges including the presentation of poor metabolic stability, membrane permeability and oral bioavailability associated with peptides was restricting their investigation and production by pharmaceutical companies in the past. However, recent modification in drug delivery systems, new formulations, and other fields involved have made it possible to overcome those disadvantages and make use of their advantages such as high potency and selectivity of their targets as well as the low toxicity, low accumulation in tissue and fast clearance, as seen in multiple natural peptide drugs such as insulin (Anderson & Delgado, 2008; Barabási et al., 2011).

#### 1.6 Lipocalin-2

Lipocalin-2 (LCN2), a novel adipokine consisting of 198 amino acids, is also known as neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin. Other names associated with LCN2 include, siderocalin, uterocalin, α1-microglobulin related protein, and 24p3. LCN2 belongs to large group of proteins that carry small and lipid soluble biological agents in blood circulation. These hrophobic molecule include steroids, fatty acids, retinoids, prostaglandins and hormones. (Flower, 1994; Chu et al., 1998). Two cell surface receptors has been proposed for this protein one is megalin/glycoprotein GP330 which binds human LCN2 (Hvidberg et al., 2005) and SLC22A17 or 24p3R which binds mouse Lcn2 protein (Devireddy et al., 2005). LCN2 is encoded by a gene located at chromosome locus 9q34.11. LCN2 gene produce at least five functional transcripts that translate into proteins, the most common of which encodes for a 198 amino acid secreted protein. LCN2 was initially isolated from neutrophil granules released at site of infection and inflammation in human (Flower, 1994; Kjeldsen et al., 1993), and from mouse kidney cells. LCN2 is a bacteriostatic agent capable of iron depletion during antibacterial innate immune response. It does this by degrading the ferric siderophores enterobactin (Ent) of bacteria (Nairz et al., 2009; Holmes et al., 2005). It has also been shown that LCN2 has a protective role on the body during the process of infection, inflammation (Cowland & Borregaard, 1997), injury and tissue stress. In addition, it is able to interact with and stabilize matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) in human neutrophils. The Lcn2 and MMP-9 complex, prevents MMP-9 auto-degradation and upregulate the activity of MMP-9 in vitro. MMP-9 is known for its ability to degrade the extracellular matrix and basement membranes. This LCN2/MMP-9 complex is suggested to aid in tumor progression, invasion and metastasis (Kobara et al., 2013; Triebel et al., 1992). In addition to its bacteriostatic properties, previous studies in animal models suggest important roles for Lcn2 in many physiological and pathological processes such as cell differentiation, apoptosis, organogenesis, inflammation, kidney damage and liver injury, Moreover, it is also suggested that Lcn2 has a role in cancer progression and metastasis (Candido et al., 2016). Recent studies have shown that the blood level LCN2 is increased after the onset of obesity and type 2 diabetes (Yan et al., 2007). Some reports have associated Lcn2 to insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism, however, its role in the modulation of insulin sensitivity, glucose and lipid metabolisms has not been completely elucidated. Human lipocalin-2 protein is represented in upper case (LCN2), while the mouse and rat homologues are usually represented in lower case (Ngal or Lcn2) to differentiate between them (Kjeldsen et al., 2000).

#### 1.6.1 Structure

Human LCN2 and it is homologues in mouse and rat, contain a 20-amino acid signal peptide at the N-terminal end of the protein, which is cleaved prior secretion, followed by the domain where lipocalins bind to their ligands, known as lipocalin domain. The highly conserved LCN2 structure is comprised of an eight stranded betabarrel that forms a closing calyx in an antiparallel direction which represents the internal ligand-binding site allowing lipocalins to bind to their ligands. This binding cavity of LCN2 is significantly larger and polar than other lipocalin proteins and enables it to bind to cell surface receptors and form macromolecular complexes by binding to larger and less hydrophobic ligands as mammalian proteins, which in turn provides key functions in cell regulation, proliferation and differentiation (Goetz et al., 2000). LCN2 occurs in various molecular forms as a monomer (25-kDa), a disulfidelinked homodimer (46-kDa) and a disulfide-linked heterodimer with human neutrophil gelatinase B (135-kDa) (Kjeldsen et al., 1993). The amino acid sequence between NGAL homologues among different species shows that human NGAL have less identity similarity to the mouse and rat homologues (62% and 63% similarity respectively). This is very important to note because most of the studies on the function of LCN2 are done on murine. However, the mouse and human homologue are highly similar in the architecture domain (Figure 1) and three dimensional structure.



Figure 1: Human, mouse and rat LCN2 domain architecture showing high degree of similarity. Consisting of 20-amino acid signal peptide at the N-terminal end of the protein, which is cleaved prior to secretion. This is followed by the domain where lipocalins bind to their ligands, known as lipocalin domain or lipocalin fold, which makes up most of the length of the protein.

#### 1.6.2 Tissue Distribution of Lipocalin 2

LCN2 was first identified and located in the azurophilic neutrophil granules (Kjeldsen et al., 1993). Following this, several researchs have been conducted to investigate the expression of LCN2 in various tissues. It has been identified that LCN2 is expressed in several normal tissues including liver, lung, kidney, bone marrow, adipose tissue, macrophages, thymus, non-neoplastic breast duct, prostate, small intestine and trachea where almost there is limited to no expression detected of LCN2 in the normal pancreas, endometrial glands, and peripheral blood leucocytes. LCN2 is however, completely absent from the normal brain, heart, skeletal muscle, spleen, testes, ovary and colon (Seth et al., 2002; Moreno-Navarrete et al., 2010; Cowland et al., 2003; Cowland & Borregaard, 1997; Furutani et al., 1998). In comparison to adult LCN2 is less investigated in infants. An investigation of LCN2 expression in several human fetal tissue has reported an expression of LCN2 in multiple tissues at different

weeks of gestation such as in the epidermis of the fetal skin approximately in the 20-24 week of gestational age. Afterwards, the expression concentrates toward lower layers of the skin and becomes progressively receded toward the hair follicles (Mallbris et al., 2002). In murine tissues the expression of LCN2 has been investigated intensively. In the embryo, LCN2 is expressed in the hypertrophic and perihypertrophic regions of the developing cartilage (Owen et al., 2008). It has been reported to be expressed in various tissues of the adult murine such as luminal epithelium and glands of the mouse uterus (Huang et al., 1999) bone marrow, liver, spleen, testis, lung and no expression was detected in the normal liver, heart, kidney, small bowel, thymus, brain or in the fetus liver (Aigner et al., 2007). The expression of LCN2 is strongly upregulated in the tissues as well as the body fluids in various pathological conditions, including inflammatory and metabolic disorders especially in several organs such as liver, heart, lungs, bone marrow, kidney, and spleen (Borkham-Kamphorst et al., 2011; Aigner et al., 2007).

#### 1.6.2.1 Adipose Tissue

Several studies have reported LCN2 expression in adipose tissue (Lin et al., 2001; Kratchmarova et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2007). Reports have shown that the expression of LCN2 is elevated during adipoctyogenesis in 3T3-L1 cell line. A study by Yan et al., showed that white adipose tissue (WAT) was the major source of LCN2 expression and reported its absence in brown adipose tissue (BAT) in wild-type male mice. They suggested that obesity regulates its expression (Yan et al., 2007).

#### 1.6.2.2 Liver

The liver is considered the main LCN2 source during infection or post-partial hepatectomy (PHx). The induction of more than 30-40 folds of LCN2 mRNA

expression was monitored in the liver as well as a significant increase in serum LCN2 levels after 24 and 36 hours post-bacterial challenge by the administration of *K*. *pneumoniae* ( $1 \times 10^3$  CFU) and *E. coli* ( $1 \times 10^7$  CFU). Moreover, surgical stress on the induction of LCN2 expression was investigated using the PHx model revealing that serum LCN2 protein and hepatic LCN2 mRNA levels were significantly increased post-PHx (Wazen et al., 2015).

#### 1.6.2.3 Brain

Astrocytes are star-shaped glial cell of the central nervous system. They are responsible of the metabolic and trophic support to neurons and the modulation of synaptic activity. In response to a brain injury, astrocytes undergo reactive astrocytosis. LCN2 is an autocrine mediator of reactive astrocytosis performing multiple roles in regulating cell death, morphology, and migration of astrocytes. Lcn2 expression and secretion increased after inflammatory stimulation in cultured astrocytes. As shown by Western blot analysis in C6 glia cells and primary astrocytes, the expression and secretion of Lcn2 was markedly increased after the treatment with different inflammatory stimuli (Lee et al., 2009)

LCN2 expression is upregulated in patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI) in both, the injured tissue of the brain as well as the plasma serum of the patients. Furthermore, LCN2 expression is positively correlated with the severity of traumatic brain injury, suggesting that LCN2 can be used as a biomarker for the severity of TBI. Since this disease can cause serious complication to the patients leading to disability and mortality (Zhao et al., 2016). In the animal model LCN2 is expressed as well in endothelial cells, basal ganglia post ICH, corpus callosum after cerebral ischemia (Marques et al., 2012).
## 1.6.2.4 Lung

LCN2 mRNA expression has been identified in human lung and trachea where it is localized to goblet cells and ciliated epithelial cells in the normal bronchial and alveolear type II pneumocytes derived cell line A549. Moreover, a significant increase in LCN2 mRNA expression was detected in bronchial epithelial cells and alveolar type II pneumocytes during lung inflammation (Cowland et al., 2003). This was supported by another study which showed an elevation in LCN2 mRNA expression and serum levels monitored in the lung after 24 and 36 hours post-bacterial challenge by the administration of *K. pneumoniae* (1×10<sup>3</sup> CFU) and *E. coli* (1×10<sup>7</sup> CFU) (Wazen et al., 2015).

# 1.6.2.5 Kidney

LCN2 expression is upregulated in both acute and chronic kidney damage. LCN2 has been demonstrated as a potential early biomarker for kidney injuries in several studies (Bennett et al., 2008; Kümpers et al., 2010; Mishra et al., 2003). Human and mouse transplantation studies reveal that LCN2 expression is derived from the damaged nephrons (Ashraf et al., 2016). Another potential source of systemic LCN2 is neutrophils and macrophages (Hvidberg et al., 2005). Chronic kidney disease (CKD) in addition is also associated with marked upregulation in LCN2 levels in tissue and body fluids (blood and urine) (Stenvinkel, 2010; Viau et al., 2010).

### 1.6.2.6 Bone Marrow

Strong Expression of LCN2 mRNA is detected in human bone marrow cells (myelocytes and metamyelocytes) (Cowland & Borregaard, 1999). In cells of intermediate maturity, Costa et al., found that LCN2 was expressed during osteoblast differentiation (Costa et al., 2013).

## 1.6.2.7 Skin

The activated keratinocytes in the epidermis and infiltrated neutrophils in the dermis of psoriatic human patients and murine showed higher mRNA and protein expression levels of LCN2 compared to those in normal controls (Shao et al., 2016). Interestingly, treating psoriatic patients with calcipotriol for 14 days resulted in no change in LCN2 expression in these lesions. While once the lesions healed, the expression of LCN2 dropped by itself, suggesting that LCN2 expression is regulated by the disease process (Mallbris et al., 2002).

### 1.6.2.8 Neutrophils

LCN2 is constitutively expressed in human neutrophils and was initially isolated as a 25-kDa neutrophil protein. During inflammation LCN2 is secreted by prepackaged neutrophil granules (Kjeldsen et al., 1993)

## 1.6.2.9 Heart

Previous studies has proved that Lcn2 is upregulated in ischemia-reperfusion processes, coronary heart disease and myocardial infarction (Yndestad et al., 2009; Choi et al., 2008; Hemdahl et al., 2006; Aigner et al., 2007) suggesting that it is a promising and useful biomarker of the severity and mortality of heart diseases. Another study demonstrated that Lnc2 expression has been detected in the mouse cardiomyocytes. Moreover, hypoxia induced the mRNA expression and protein levels of LCN2 in HL-1 cells (Xiong et al., 2016). Furthermore, a study by Aigner and colleagues revealed that LCN2 mRNA expression and protein levels were significantly upregulated in heterotopic heart transplanted murine (Aigner et al., 2007).

### 1.6.2.10 Pancreas

LCN2 protein levels were markedly higher in pancreatic juice in patient with chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer (Kaur et al., 2013). Moreover, ELISA analyses of LCN2 showed high levels in mice with mild acute pancreatitis (MAP) and severe acute pancreatitis (SAP) compared to control (Chakraborty et al., 2010). In another study they have tested different markers in the serum of KPC mice model to determine their expression. mouse CXCL16, mouse TIMP1, and mouse LCN2 ELISA analysis revealed a significant elevation in serum levels in mice with PanIN2/3 lesions or invasive PC compared to controls. However, LCN2 was the most promising serum biomarker for the pancreatic cancer in mice (Slater et al., 2013).

## 1.6.2.11 Spleen

LCN2 has a low expression in the normal spleen but after experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) induction in the mouse, LCN2 was significantly increased in the spleen, specifically in the neutrophils and dendritic cells (Nam et al., 2014).

# 1.6.2.12 Synovial fluid

LCN2 is highly expressed in the synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and osteoarthritis (OA) (Gupta et al., 2007; Katano et al., 2009) compared to healthy control. However, synovial LCN2 levels were approximately 15 times higher than in plasma. Moreover, neutrophil LCN2 is positively correlated with granulocyte cells detected in the synovial fluid (Bläser et al., 1995) and LCN2 detected in OA synovial fluid up regulates cartilage breakdown by protecting MMP-9 against auto-degradation (Gupta et al., 2007), which supported and

suggested LCN2 as a biomarker for arthritic disease and inflammatory disorders (Wilson et al., 2008).

The below Table 1 summarizes the tissue distribution of LCN2 under various pathological conditions.

Tissue/cell	Type of lipocalin-2	Species	Method of localization	Authors	
	LCN2 protein	Mouse/human	qRT-PCR, WB, IHC	(El Karoui et al.,	
	LCN2 mRNA		ELISA, qRT-PCR	2016)	
	LCN2 protein	Mouse	ELISA		
Kidney	LCN2 mRNA			(Ashraf et al., 2016)	
	LCN2 protein	Human		(Belcher et al.,	
	LCN2 mRNA			2014)	
	LCN2 protein	Mouse	qRTPCR, WB	(Xiong et al.,	
	LCN2 mRNA			2016)	
Heart	LCN2 protein				
	LCN2 mRNA	Mouse	RT-PCR, WB	(Aigner et al., 2007)	
	LCN2 protein	Human	qRT-PCR, ELISA,	(Zhao et al.,	
	LCN2 mRNA		WB	2016)	
Brain	LCN2 protien				
		Mouse/human	IF, IHC, ELISA, qRT-PCR	(Marques et al., 2012)	
	LCN2 protein	Mouse	ELISA	(Slater et al.,	
				2013)	
	LCN2 protein				
Pancreas		Human	ELISA	(Kaur et al., 2013)	
	LCN2 protien			,	
		Mouse	ELISA	(Chakrabortv et	
				al., 2010)	
Lung	LCN2 mRNA	Human	IHC,ELISA,NB	(Cowland et al.,	
	LCN2 mRNA	Human	qRT-PCR	2003)	
				(Kangelaris et al., 2015)	
Synovial fluid	LCN2 protein	Human	WB, Zymographic	(Gupta et al.,	
	LCN2 protein		analysis	2007)	
		Human	ELISA	(Bläser et al., 1995)	
Skin	LCN2 protein	Human	IHC, RT-PCR	(Mallbris et al.,	
	LCN2 mRNA			2002)	
	LCN2 protein	Human/mouse	RT-	(Shao et al., 2016)	
	LCN2 mRNA		PCK,ELISA,WB,		
			IHC, Cell culture, Chemotaxis assay		

Table 1: Tissue distribution of altered lipocalin-2 expression in human, rat and mouse in organ disorders.

#### **1.6.3 Inductors of Lipocalin-2 Expression**

## 1.6.3.1 Proinflammatory Cytokines

# 1.6.3.1.1 Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha (TNFα)

Several studies have shown that TNF $\alpha$  induces the expression and secretion of Lcn2 (Yan et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2001). The continuous treatment of 3T3-L1 adipocytes by TNF $\alpha$  for 24, 48, or 72 h have shown marked increase in LCN2 expression and secretion within 24 h, when compared to control. However, the effect of TNF $\alpha$  on LCN2 levels increased over time. The ability of TNF $\alpha$  to induce Lcn2 mRNA expression is dependent on NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. siRNA-mediated knockdown of P65 subunit of NF- $\kappa$ B has significantly attenuated the induction of TNF $\alpha$  on LCN2 expression and secretion (Zhao et al., 2014). Lee et al. also confirmed that treatment of primary astrocytes with by TNF $\alpha$  (100 ng/ml) significantly increased the expression of LCN2 (Lee et al., 2009).

#### **1.6.3.1.2 Interferon** γ (IFNγ)

Several studies have shown that IFN $\gamma$  induce LCN2 expression and secretion in cultured murine and human adipocytes. Intraperitoneal injection of IFN $\gamma$  have been shown to stimulate Lcn2 expression and secretion in mice epididymal WAT. Post 24 h treatment by IFN $\gamma$ , the cellular levels of LCN2 were induced and remained high. The ability of IFN $\gamma$  to induce Lcn2 mRNA expression is dependent on STAT1 pathway. siRNA-mediated knockdown of STAT1 has resulted in marked attenuation in the induction effect of IFN $\gamma$  on LCN2 expression and secretion (Zhao et al., 2014).

#### 1.6.3.1.3 Lipopolysaccharides (LPS)

Lipopolysaccharide is a strong inducer for lipocalin-2 expression in different tissues. The administration of peripheral LPS in mice for 24 h resulted in high detection of lipocalin-2 inducement by LPS with over a 140-fold induction. However, LCN2 was not detected in  $Lcn2^{-/-}$  mice, treated with Phosphate buffered saline (Kang et al., 2018). Another study investigating reactive astrocytosis has also confirmed that treatment with by LPS (100 ng/ml) markedly increased the expression of LCN2 (Lee et al., 2009).

## **1.6.3.1.4** 17-β-Estradiol (E2)

Treatment of subcutaneous adipose tissue from postmenopausal women with 17- $\beta$ -estradiol (E2) resulted in significant increase in LCN2 gene expression by 4-fold and LCN2 protein expression by 2.7-fold. E2 effects on LCN2 is suggested to be regulated by ER $\beta$  pathway but not through ER $\alpha$  pathway. It has been identified that dexamethasone+E2 can mediate LCN2 expression by the inhibition of ER $\alpha$  and stimulation of ER $\beta$  suggesting it may result and play a role in the development of glucocorticoid-induced insulin resistance in human adipose tissue (Kamble et al., 2019).

# 1.6.3.1.5 Hyperglycemia

Lipocalin-2 expression is increased in diabetic/obese mice in various tissues as adipose and liver tissue. The use of microarray analysis for identification of genes expressed in db/db obese/diabetic mice and controls resulted in the expression of lipocalin-2 gene. This was significantly induced in the liver tissue of obese/diabetic mice, as well as human subjects with diabetes, where they showed higher mean serum

concentrations of lipocalin-2 than those who were not affected by the disease (Wang et al., 2007).

### 1.6.3.1.6 Gender

The measurement of lipocalin-2 concentrations in serum samples collected from 229 adult participants by Wang et al. has revealed that lipocalin-2 concentrations in obese and lean groups were markedly higher in males compared to females. They showed that circulating lipocalin-2 concentrations in smokers were much higher than those in nonsmokers (Wang et al., 2007). Another study has also demonstrated that in adipose tissue, men had higher LCN2 mRNA expression than women (Kamble et al., 2019).

## 1.6.3.1.7 Obesity

There is a positive correlation between serum lipocalin-2 concentrations and BMI (Wang et al., 2007). Western blot analysis, immunoprecipitation and in-house immunoassay measuring human lipocalin-2 showed that the affinity of lipocalin-2 antibody selectively were attracted to an ~25-kDa protein, which was confirmed by tandem mass spectrometry analysis to be human lipocalin-2, which demonstrated that lipocalin-2 concentration in obese subjects was markedly higher than those in lean ones. Moreover, the plasma concentration of lipocalin-2 were higher in obese than lean subjects in both human and murine (Wang et al., 2007). Another study has also revealed a significant upregulation of LCN2 expression and secretion in adipose tissue of obese (ob/ob) mice compared to lean controls (Yan et al., 2007).

#### **1.6.3.1.8 Advanced Glycation End-Products (AGEs)**

AGE treatment increases the mRNA and protein expression of LCN2. AGE stimulates LCN2 expression via RAGE-NADPH oxidase reactive oxygen species pathway, by the activation of PI3K-Akt and JNK signal transduction in human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs). The activation of C/EBP $\beta$  is responsible for the transcriptional activation of LCN2 expression induced by AGE (Chung et al., 2013).

#### 1.6.3.1.9 Insulin

In human omental adipose tissue explants, continuous infusion of insulin showed a significant dose-dependent increase in LCN2 expression and secretion. Insulin can also stimulate the expression of LCN2 via PI3K and MAPK signaling pathways (Tan et al., 2009).

## 1.6.3.1.10 Dexamethasone

Dexamethasone is a synthetic analog of glucocorticoid. It is a strong inducer of LCN2 expression and secretion. Treatment of 3T3-L1 adipocytes with dexamethasone resulted in the induction of Lcn2 mRNA by ~80-fold. Furthermore, a mixture of methylisobutylxanthine and dexamethasone had a significant effect on *LCN2* expression. However, dexamethasone was the dominant contributor to *LCN2* induction (Yan et al., 2007).

# 1.6.3.1.11 BAY16

The treatment of male wistar rats with BAY16 a hepatotoxic agent has resulted in upregulation of LCN2 mRNA levels after 24 hours of treatment which continuously increased by ~16-fold and 37-fold after 3 days and 12 days following repeated administrations of BAY16. LCN2 serum levels correlated with the severity of liver injury. Increased expression of LCN2 was detected in hepatocytes, biliary epithelial cells and proximal tubular epithelial cells of the kidney (Adler et al., 2010).

### 1.6.3.1.12 NF-кВ Signaling Pathway

LCN2 contains the binding site of NF-kB in its promoter region. The nuclear factor-KB (NF-KB) is a transcription factor that mediate key pathways. Originally NF- $\kappa B$  signaling pathway was identified in immune cells and has emerged as a key mediator of LCN2 gene expression. NF-kB is comprised of five transcription factors p50, p52, p65 (RelA), c-Rel and RelB. the N-terminal region of these proteins establishes a common domain, Rel homology domain (RHD), which is important for the NF-kB dimerization and DNA binding activity. The C-terminal region of RelA (p65), c-Rel and RelB have transcription activation domain (TAD) therefore they activate gene expression, whereby p50 and p52 have a transcription repression domain (TRD) which inhibits gene expression. p50 and p52 require coactivators to be associated with in order to induce gene expression. NF-kB proteins bind to a specific sequence in the promoter region of target genes where they activate or inhibit gene expression depending on the presence of TAD or TRD. In case of LCN2 which is positively regulated by agents that influence the signaling pathway of NF- $\kappa$ B as TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and LPS, which are potent inducers of insulin resistance. In normal state I $\kappa$ B blocks the activity of NF- $\kappa$ B by binding to it. Due to the influence of NF- $\kappa$ B signaling, IkB kinase (IKK) becomes activated this kinase phosphorylate the inhibitor of NF-kB (I $\kappa$ B) resulting in the dissociation of I $\kappa$ B from NF- $\kappa$ B, and I $\kappa$ B is then ubiquitinated and degraded by proteasome. The free NF- $\kappa$ B translocate to the nucleus and regulates the expression of target genes (Hayden & Ghosh, 2008) as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Regulation of LCN2 expression by NF- $\kappa$ B. NF- $\kappa$ B is present in the cytosol as heterodimer (Rel-A and p50) but it is kept inactive by the inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B (I $\kappa$ B). When the signaling molecule binds to the specific receptor that is present in the cell membrane, the receptor becomes activated and it phosphorylate IKK, which in turn phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B. The phosphorylated I $\kappa$ B gets ubiquitylated followed by subsequent degradation by proteasome, freeing the NF- $\kappa$ B complex, which translocates to the nucleus and binds with other coactivators and RNA polymerase. The complex in turn binds to the  $\kappa$ B response element ( $\kappa$ B RE) located at position -181/-171 on the LCN2 promoter. This leads to activation of transcription of LCN2 gene. Abbreviations: NF- $\kappa$ B, nuclear factor kappa B; IKK, I $\kappa$ B kinase; I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , nuclear factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B-cells inhibitor, alpha.

### 1.6.3.14 ERK Signaling Pathway

Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) is a member of the mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) family. ERKs have a key role in regulating cell proliferation, cell growth and cell division. ERK signaling pathway begins with the binding of a ligand such as EGF to the extracellular portion of the membrane bound receptor of the family of receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK). EGF binding leads to the dimerization of two subunit of the receptor tyrosine kinase, which catalyzes phosphorylation. The Grb2 binds to the phosphorylated RTK, then SOS binds to the Grb2. SOS activates Ras by substituting the GDP by GTP, while the activated Ras induces the activation of B-Raf. The activated Raf phosphorylates and activates MEK1/2, then, activated MEK1/2 phosphorylate and activate ERK1/2. ERKs are serine/threonine kinases. The kinase cascade leads to the activation of (jun) and (fos) transcription factors of the activator protein-1 (AP-1) family. Upon activation, these transcription factors translocate to the nucleus and bind to AP-1 motif of the DNA which leads to the expression of many genes encoding growth factors, cyclins and cytokines (Kim & Choi, 2010) as shown in Figure 3. A study by Zhao et al. have demonstrated that ERK signaling pathway regulates the capability of IFNy and TNFa to induce LCN2 expression without effecting the nuclear translocation or DNA binding activity of STAT1 and NF- $\kappa$ B by IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$ . This suggests that ERK signaling pathway is vital for the maximum transcriptional activity of STAT1 and NF- $\kappa B$  (Zhao & Stephens, 2013b). Another study suggested that TNF $\alpha$  induces insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes through suppressing the phosphorylation and expression of IR, IRS1/2 via the ERK signaling pathway (Fujishiro et al., 2003). A different study showed that the activation of the ERKs signaling pathway stimulates adipogenesis via regulating the gene expression of PPARy and C/EBPa. These elements are critical for adipogenesis (Prusty et al., 2002). Treatment of murine 3T3-L1 adipocytes with IFNy resulted in the degradation of PPARy in adipocytes by IFNyinduced ERKs activation which mediates phosphorylation of PPARy at Serine112 (Floyd & Stephens, 2002).



Figure 3: Regulation of LCN2 expression by ERK signaling pathway. Once EGF binds to the EGFR it gets activated and phosphorylated then it attaches to the Grb2 and Sos proteins in the cytosolic section. Grb2 and Sos activates Ras by substituting the GDP of Ras by GTP. Ras directly interacts with B-Raf and activates it. Raf then phosphorylates and activates MEK, which in turn phosphorylates and activates ERKs. ERKs lead to the activation of the transcription factors c-jun and c-fos.

### **1.6.3.1.15 JAK-STAT Signaling Pathway**

The Janus kinase (JAK)-signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) signaling pathway is used by hormone and cytokine receptors. It has been demonstrated that it up-regulates the expression of LCN2. There are four members of the JAK family: Jak1, Jak2, Jak3 and Tyk2, each of these contain a SH2 domain and FERM (four-point-one, ezrin, radixin, moesin) domain. and seven members of the STAT family: STAT1, STAT2, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5A, STAT5B and STAT6. However, only STAT1, 3, 5A, 5B and 6 are expressed in mature adipocytes (Zhao & Stephens, 2013a). The pathway operates by activation of the receptor by the ligand (GM-CSF), the Tins as (EPO, Prolactin, Thrombopoetin and Leptin) and the Ters, which include interleukins and interferon. Activated JAK binds to the receptor and

phosphorylates the receptor on tyrosine residues. In the unstimulated cell, STAT is inactivated, while the activated JAK causes the recruitment of STAT and phosphorylates it. The phosphorylated STAT binds to another STAT and form homodimer or heterodimer with other STAT isoforms. STATs homodimer translocate to the nucleus and interact with promoters to modulate gene expression (Darnell, 1997) as illustrated in Figure 4. Previous studies have illustrated activators of JAK-STAT signaling pathways including cytokines IL-1 and IL-17 (Florin et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2008), Gp130 cytokines, including cardiotrophin-1 (Zvonic et al., 2004), IFNγ (Hogan & Stephens, 2003), interleukin-11 (Tenney et al., 2005) have been identified to utilize STAT1 and STAT3 signaling pathways in adipose cells. A cross talk between the JNK and NF-κB has been also suggested to act together to influence LCN2 expression.



Figure 4: Regulation of LCN2 expression by JAK-STAT signaling pathway. The receptor gets activated by the binding of the specific ligand and activated JAK binds to the receptor and phosphorylates its own tyrosine component to activate its kinase function, which in turn phosphorylates STAT. Phosphorylated STAT binds to another STAT and forms a homodimer or heterodimer and then translocate to promote DNA transcription in the nucleus. Abbreviations: JAK, janus kinase; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription.

### 1.6.4 Inhibitor of Lipocalin-2 Expression

## 1.6.4.1 Rosiglitazone

Rosiglitazone is a drug with insulin-sensitizing and anti-inflammatory activities. The serum samples of T2DM patients treated with the peroxisome proliferator–activated receptor- $\gamma$  agonist rosiglitazone, showed a significant decrease in circulating concentrations of lipocalin-2, and a marked decrease also has been detected in LCN2 expression in mice and circulating concentrations in both murine and humans. Moreover, rosiglitazone-mediated relative changes in serum lipocalin-2 concentrations correlated well with relative changes in insulin sensitivity and C-reactive protein (Yan et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2007).

#### **1.6.5 Controversial Factors in LCN2 Expression**

## **1.6.5.1 Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF)**

Treatment of PDAC cell line AsPC-1 and BxPC-3 with EGF decreased the expression of LCN2 mRNA (by 48.4% in AsPC-1 and 44.7% in BxPC-3 cells) compared with untreated cells as detected by Q-PCR. Moreover, LCN2 protein was also markedly reduced by EGF treatment as detected by both Western blot analysis and immunofluorescence. This was accompanied with a marked decrease in the epithelial marker E-cadherin. EGF decreased LCN2 expression through the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. However, in other cell types EGF showed different effect on LCN2 expression for example in renal tubular epithelial cells a treatment with EGF has resulted in upregulation of LCN2 expression via stabilization of HIF-1 $\alpha$  (hypoxia inducible factor-1 $\alpha$ ).

## 1.6.6 Lipocalin-2, Obesity and Insulin Resistance

LCN2 is a critical adipocytokine in the regulation of energy metabolism, glucose and lipid metabolism, body fat mass and insulin resistance. It has a regulatory importance in the activation of PPAR $\gamma$ , which mediates adipogenesis and lipogeneses in liver and adipose tissue (Zhang et al., 2008). However, the clear mechanism of LCN2 in the pathogenesis of obesity-related diseases is not clear yet. Both the mRNA expression and serum levels of LCN2 in adipose tissue and liver are markedly increased in obese and diabetic murine as well as in mice fed high fat diet (HFD) (Guo et al., 2010). Circulating LCN2 concentrations positively correlate with measures of adiposity, hyperglycemia, hypertriglyceridemia, and the insulin resistance index in humans (Wang et al., 2007). In obesity and related disorders, LCN2 expression and secretion is stimulated by proinflammatory cytokines as IL-6, IL-B, IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$ 

in cultured human and mice adipose cells. Zhao et al. has demonstrated that IFNy induces the expression of LCN2 via activating STAT1 and TNFa needs NF-kB signaling pathway in order to mediate LCN2 expression and secretion. This mechanism occurs in both human and murine (Zhao et al., 2014). LCN2 promoter contains the binding site of key transcription factors CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) and NF-kB (Shen et al., 2006) demonstrating that the transcriptional activation of LCN2 gene in the adipose tissue has a role in obesity, inflammation and metabolic disorders. In both preclinical and clinical research, a role for LCN2 has been demonstrated in obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes (Moreno-Navarrete et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2007; Yan et al., 2007). Recent studies suggest that LCN2 increases insulin resistance as law and colleagues showed that LCN2 knockout mice were protected from HFD-induced insulin resistance this effect was accompanied by attenuation in the expression of TNF $\alpha$  and 12-lipoxygenase in the tissues of the LCN2 deficient mice (Law et al., 2010). Another study showed that insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism has been improved in LCN2 deficient cultured adipocytes(Yan et al., 2007). A preclinical study showed that a knockdown of LCN2 in mice resulted in increase in hepatic gluconeogenesis, decreased mitochondrial oxidative capacity, impaired lipid metabolism, and elevated inflammatory state under the high fiber diet condition in different organs. LCN2 deficient mice has showed an increase in insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and fatty liver disease (Guo et al., 2010). Human study by (Huang et al., 2012) has showed that circulating levels of LCN2 was markedly higher in subjects with isolated impaired fasting glucose, isolated impaired glucose tolerance, combined impaired fasting glucose/impaired glucose tolerance and recently-diagnosed type 2 diabetes than normal subjects. This result suggests that LCN2 upregulation is in association with a higher risk for impaired glucose regulation and type 2 diabetes. Insulin induction in human markedly increased serum LCN2 levels and its secretion in omental adipose tissue. This was modulated by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and mitogen-activated protein kinase (Tan et al., 2009). Another study conducted by (Liu et al., 2011) resulted in no correlation between cardiovascular risk factors and circulating levels of LCN2 and homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance. Although some observations suggest a potentially metabolically protective role of LCN2, there are substantial inconsistent observations related to actions of LCN2 in relation to glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity

### 1.6.7 LCN2 Gene and Diabetes

The cDNA sequence of human Lipocalin 2 is related to human chromosome 9 with a cytogenetic map 9q34.11. The promoter region of the Lcn2 gene contains the binding sites of several transcription factors, and nuclear receptor response elements, including nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) (Shen et al., 2006; Zhao & Stephens, 2013b); CCAAT-enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) (Shen et al., 2006); glucocorticoid response element (Garay-rojas et al., 1996); retinoic acid response element (Shen et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2016); estrogen response element (Seth, al., 2002), and STAT1 (Zhao & Stephens, 2013b). All of this information indicates that the expression of LCN2 is important in diabetes and obesity, which represent the state of metabolic inflammation. Studies by different groups have indicated that diabetes which is accompanied by mild chronic subclinical inflammatory condition results in elevated levels of LCN2 in serum and different tissues (Bhusal et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2001). Induction of type 1 diabetes by streptozotocin in murine have shown increased levels of LCN2 in multiple tissues. In several studies, diabetic induced animals via streptozotocin injection resulted in elevation of LCN2 in body fluids as urine and

different body tissues as the kidney where it is usually used as a biomarker for acute and chronic kidney injury (Arellano-buendía et al., 2014; Brouwers et al., 2014; Korrapati et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2015). In a study conducted by (Soukas et al., 2000), upregulation of LCN2 was observed in the white adipose tissue of obese mice suffering from severe type 2 diabetes when compared with lean controls. Moreover, LCN2 expression is elevated in several murine obese and diabetic models as well as people (Yan et al., 2007; Eun et al., 2018; Tak et al., 2016; Kanaka-gantenbein et al., 2008). In addition, fatty liver disease human and murine models samples revealed elevation in LCN2 and its key association in lipid metabolism, inflammation and insulin resistance (Lambertz et al., 2017; Ye et al., 2016; Asimakopoulou et al., 2014; Semba et al., 2013).

# **Chapter 2: Aims, Hypothesis and Objectives**

## 2.1 Hypothesis

The administration of lipocalin 2 would improve the metabolic complications of diabetes mellitus and enhance insulin secretion from the islet of Langerhans of diabetic rats.

# 2.2 Aim

To examine the effect of lipocalin 2 in the management of euglycemia, improving the secretion of insulin from  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas and reducing oxidative stress in STZ-induced diabetic rat.

# 2.3 Objectives

- 1. Examine the effect of lipocalin 2 on total body weight and fasting blood glucose.
- 2. Determine how lipocalin 2 treatment would influence biochemical parameters, especially biomarkers of hepatic and renal functions.
- 3. Study the expression of lipocalin 2 in endocrine pancreas of normal and diabetic rats.
- 4. Determine whether lipocalin 2 co-localizes with endocrine hormones in the islet of Langerhans
- To investigate how lipocalin 2 affects insulin release from normal and diabetic rat pancreas
- 6. Determine whether lipocalin 2 mitigate diabetes-induced oxidative stress in the pancreas and liver of diabetic rats

 To examine the effect of lipocalin 2 treatment on molecules involved in insulin signaling.

#### **Chapter 3: Materials and Methods**

### **3.1 Animal Model**

Three months of age male Wistar rats weighting approximately 250 g were utilized in this study. All animals were provided by the Animal Facility in the College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University. Animals were kept under specific pathogen free environment and maintained at 22-25°C with 12 hours light/dark cycle. They were housed in polycarbonate cages containing wood chips bedding in groups of three animals per cage. Cages were replaced every two days for the diabetic animals and twice weekly for normal animals. Animals were fed a standard rat chow diet and supplied with tap water *ad libitum*. The study was approved by Institutional Ethical Committee of the United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain, UAE (A5-14).

### **3.2 Establishing the Experimental Diabetes Model**

The diabetic animal model was established by intraperitoneally injecting male wistar rats with a single dose of streptozotocin (STZ) using a dose of 60 mg/kg body weight. Streptozotocin were prepared freshly on the day of injection by dissolving it in citrate buffer (pH 4.5, 0.5 M) and was kept on ice at the time of injections. After 7 days, animals were fasted for 8 hours before checking FPG levels and only animals with readings > 250 mg/dl were considered diabetic. Animals with readings below 250 mg/dl were considered not diabetic and excluded from the study to maintain a standard of STZ-induced diabetes mellitus with a single dose.

#### **3.3 Experimental Design**

Animals were primarily divided into two groups, normal and diabetic. After that a further division were performed in each group into two sub-groups. One was injected with normal saline and the other with 8  $\mu$ g/Kg of lipocalin-2 five-days/week for a period of 2 weeks.



Figure 5: Schematic diagram of the animal groups in the study.

During the treatment period the animals body weight were checked once a week and their blood glucose levels were assessed from the tail vein using OneTouch® Ultra® glucometer (LifeScan, Inc., Milpitas, CA, USA) after fasting them for 8 hours. At the end of the treatment period of 2 weeks, intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) was performed for all groups after 12 hours of fasting. Rats were injected with a glucose with the dose of 10 mg/kg intraperitoneally and blood samples were obtained from the tail vein at different time points 0, 30, 60, 90, and 120 minutes.

#### 3.4 Blood/Tissue Collection and Tissue Processing

Prior to tissue collection IPGTT were performed, the animals then were anesthetized using a ketamine and xylazine cocktail (Albert Einstein Institute for Animal Studies, 2015). An incision was made through the abdominal wall. The blood was collected from the inferior vena cava using a 5-ml syringe. The pancreas was isolated and separated into three samples for immunohistochemistry (IHC), electron microscopy (EM), and molecular biology investigation. The liver was isolated for molecular biology investigation, and lastly, the gastrocnemius muscle was isolated for molecular biology investigation. The samples for the immunohistochemistry analysis were washed with PBS and embedded in Zamboni fixative, samples for electron microscopy (EM) analysis were washed and embedded in McDowell fixative and the samples for molecular biology analysis (WB) were snap frozen by liquid nitrogen then stored at -80°C.

After one week of fixing the tissues, they were processed for further analysis. Samples that have been fixed in Zamboni for IHC, have been processed to make paraffin blocks by dehydrating the tissues through a series of ascending ethanol concentrations from 70% to 95% followed by two rounds in absolute ethanol. Then the tissues were dipped in xylene I and II for 2 hours each followed by three rounds in paraffin wax at 55°C. Then the tissues were embedded in paraffin blocks and transferred to the freezer to cool down and solidify. Tissues blocks were removed, trimmed, and sectioned into 3-5  $\mu$ m thickness using a microtome. Sections were placed in a water bath with a temperature of 42°C, and later transferred onto coated slides. Slides were kept overnight to dry and for the sections to attach properly. Tissue samples kept in McDowell fixative for EM were cut into small pieces. Fat and

connective tissues were removed, then washed three times with 0.1 phosphate buffer each for 20 minutes. After that, tissues were incubated in 1% osmium tetroxide for 60 minutes followed with a dehydration step by immersing the tissues in a series of ascending concentrations of ethanol (30%, 50%, 70%, 95% and two changes of 100%) 20 minutes each. Tissues were then incubated at a ratio of 1:1 of LR White resin and 95% ethanol for one hour at room temperature on a rotator. Tissues were then infiltrated with pure LR White resin overnight at 4°C. On next day morning, samples were incubated with 100% fresh LR White for two hours at room temperature, specimens were embedded in pure resin in gelatin capsules. For polymerization gelatin capsules were placed in a holder under UV lamp (360-365 nm) in a chamber for 24-36 hours at room temperature. Resin blocks were removed from the gelatin capsules, and trimmed to expose the surface of the tissue for sectioning. Ultra-thin sections were obtained using diamond knife and they were put on nickel grids, which were placed on a filter paper to dry up.

## 3.5 Immunofluorescence Staining of Paraffin Sections

After generating tissue sections slides, sections were processed for immunohistochemical analysis. First dewaxing of the sections was achieved by immersing the slides by 2 washes with xylene each 5 minutes followed by rehydrating step achieved by incubating the slides for 3 minutes each in a series of descending concentrations of ethanol (two changes of 100%, 95%, 75%, and 50%). Then slides were kept in distilled water for 5 minutes and then they were transferred to a container with citrate buffer and placed in microwave for antigen retrieval. Slides have been cooled down for 20 minutes followed by 3 washes with PBS 5 minutes each. After that sections were marked with Pap-pen to determine the area of interest upon adding

antibodies. Blocking buffer then were added to the tissue sections for 45 minutes at room temperature to avoid any unspecific binding. After that, the primary antibody (Table 2 below) is added to the sections and left overnight at 4°C. The primary antibodies added were, insulin anti-guinea pig, lipocalin-2 anti-mouse, glucagon anti-rabbit, superoxide dismutase anti-rabbit, catalase anti-rabbit and glutathione reductase anti rabbit. On the next day, slides were washed with PBS for 3 times each for 5 minutes and then the secondary antibody was added and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature (FITC-guinea pig, Rhodamine-rabbit/mouse and FITC- rabbit). Finally, slides were washed three times with PBS, 5 minutes long each and then a mounting medium was added to the tissue sections (DakoCytomation Fluorescent mounting medium). Using fluorescence microscope and AxioCam HRc digital camera with AxioVision 3.0 software (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) fixed with z-place fluorescence, sections were investigated, and pictures were collected and adjusted using image J 1.47V.

	Table 2: Primary and	l secondary	<i>antibodies</i>	used in	IHC and	their	dilutions
--	----------------------	-------------	-------------------	---------	---------	-------	-----------

Primary antibody	Dilution	Source	Secondary antibody	Dilution	Source
Lipocalin-2 Mouse	1:100	Abcam	Rhodamine-Mouse	1:100	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Insulin Guinea Pig	1:2000	Dako	FITC-Guinea Pig	1:100	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Glucagon Rabbit	1:500	Dako	FITC- rabbit	1:100	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Superoxide dismutase Rabbit	1:500	Rockland	Rhodamine-Rabbit	1:100	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Catalase Rabbit	1:500	Abcam	Rhodamine-Rabbit	1:100	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Glutathione reductase Rabbit	1:500	Abcam	Rhodamine-Rabbit	1:100	Jackson ImmunoResearch

#### **3.6 Immunoelectron Microscopy**

Grids containing pancreatic sections were jet washed with deionized water then the grids were incubated with 10% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in water for 10 minutes. Followed by a wash with deionized water and then the grids containing pancreas sections were immersed for 20 minutes in 0.5 M NH4Cl in 0.01 M PBS (pH7.3). After that the grids were washed with washing buffer for 5 minutes then the tissues were blocked with washing buffer containing 20% normal goat serum (NGS) then the primary antibody (mouse anti-lipocalin-2) was added and incubated overnight at 4°C. On the next day, grids were kept at room temperature for an hour, washed with PBS for 3 times and incubated with blocking buffer for 20 minutes at room temperature. After that, secondary antibody (goat anti-mouse IgG coated with 10 nm gold particles) was added and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Grids were washed again with PBS for 3 times and the above steps were repeated for the same grids using a different primary antibody (rabbit anti-insulin) and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours. Grids were incubated in goat anti-rabbit IgG coated with 15 nm gold particles on the next day and grids were then fixed with glutaraldehyde (2.5% aqueous) for 5 minutes, washed with deionized water and allowed to dry overnight on a filter paper. On the following day, using uranyl acetate for 15 minutes and lead citrate for 7 minutes, grids were contrasted followed by a last wash with deionized water before viewing them with Philips TEM.

### 3.7 Markers of Oxidative Stress

Different oxidative stress markers were analysed including glutathione reductase (GSH), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase levels in serum using colorimetric analysis and in pancreas tissue using double-labeling immunofluorescence technique.

To measure glutathione reductase activity in serum, 25  $\mu$ L of the serum was taken and 25  $\mu$ L of 5% sulphosalicylic acid was added (1:1) ratio for deproteinization and to clear the turbidity of the serum. Next, serum in sulphosalicylic acid were centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was transferred into a multi-well dish for colorimetric analysis. However, for Serum levels of SOD the serum was directly used in the colorimetric analysis using Cayman Chemical SOD assay kit (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA).

## 3.8 Biochemical and Peptide Hormone Analysis

### 3.8.1 Biochemical Analysis Using Cobas®

Biochemical analyzer was utilized to obtain clinical chemistry profiles using rat serum. Various markers have been investigated and quantified including lipid profile markers triglycerides (TG), cholesterol (CHOL), low density lipoprotein (LDL), high density lipoprotein (HDL), Kidney function markers such as, creatinine, urea, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), and liver function markers such as aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), albumin (ALB) total protein and bilirubin.

### 3.8.2 Peptide Hormone Analysis Using Magpix®

The Magpix® Platform is a fluorescent-based detection system that can detect various biological molecules, such as proteins and nucleic acids, from the same sample. This technology depends on microspheric colourful beads that are coupled to reagents that can bind to the target analytes. Beads are added to a 96-well plate and

mixed with the sample being tested, beads will bind to the analyte based on antibodyprotein reaction, the complex is biotinylated and finally the detection molecule is attached.

## 3.9 Cell culture, Treatment, and Insulin Secretion

INS-1 832/3 rat insulinoma cell line (obtained from Millipore #SCC208) were maintained in complete RPMI-1640 (Sigma Cat. No R0883) media supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 10 mM HEPES, 0.05 mM  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol and 10% fatal bovine serum cultured at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. For glucose stimulated insulin secretion, cells were incubated in HBSS containing 114 mmol/L NaCl, 4.7 mmol/L KCl, 1.2 mmol/LKh2PO4, 1.16 mmol/L CaCl2. 25.5 mmol/L NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, and 0.2% bovine serum albumin, pH 7.2. then cells were washed with HBSS + 2.5 mM glucose. After wash, cells were incubated for 1 h in HBSS with 2.5 mM glucose for basal insulin secretion and HBSS with 15 mM glucose for stimulated insulin secretion. After one hour, lipocalin-2 peptide was added to respective wells at 10<sup>-8</sup> M, 10<sup>-10</sup> M and 10<sup>-12</sup> M and a control well was maintained with no peptide for 2 hours. After 2 hours the supernatant was removed to determine the insulin content using Mercodia high range rat insulin ELISA kit (Mercodia, Sylveniusgatan 8A, Uppsala, Sweden).

### 3.10 SDS-PAGE and Western Blot Analysis

Cell lysates were prepared using RIPA buffer containing Pierce Protease inhibitor mini tablets. Equal amounts of cellular protein extracts or supernatants were diluted with LDS containing 10% mercaptoethanol as reducing agent, heated at 95°C for 5 minutes, and separated in 10% or 8% gels, using TGS running buffers. Proteins were transferred into 0.2 µm Pvdf membranes (Thermo Scientific, Germany) and equal loading was shown in Ponceau S stain. Non-specific binding sites were blocked in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing Tween 20 and 3% non-fat milk powder. Appropriate primary antibodies (Table 3) were diluted in 3% blocking buffer (non-fat milk powder in TBST). And they were visualized by probing the membrane with the corresponding horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti-mouse or anti-rabbit IgG (BIO-RAD, USA) and the reactive bands were visualized using ECL plus substrate (Thermo scientific, USA).

Primary antibody	Dilution	Source	Secondary antibody	Dilution	Source
GAPDH	1:5000	Cell signaling	horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti- rabbit IgG	1:20,000	BIO-RAD
АКТ	1:1,000	Cell signaling	horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti- rabbit IgG	1:20,000	BIO-RAD
p-AKT	1:1,000	Cell signaling	horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti- rabbit IgG	1:20,000	BIO-RAD
РІЗК	1:1,000	Abcam	horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti- mouse IgG	1:20,000	BIO-RAD
LCN2	1:1,000	Abcam	horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti- mouse IgG	1:20,000	BIO-RAD

Table 3: Primary and secondary antibodies used in WB analysis and their dilutions.

# **3.11 Statistical Analysis**

Data samples were expressed as mean ± standard error of the mean. Statistical differences were analyzed using one-way ANOVA test on GraphPad software and the

p-value were obtained using tukey karmer post hoc test (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). Values for differences with p < 0.05 were considered significant.

#### **Chapter 4: Results**

## 4.1 Metabolic Parameters

The below Figures (6) and (7) show the time courses of changes in body weight (g) and blood glucose level (mg/dl) in LCN2-treated (8 µg/Kg) and untreated diabetic and age-matched control rats over the 3 weeks period of the study. The presented results show that untreated diabetic rats suffered from significant weight loss when compared with age-matched normal controls. STZ-induced diabetic rats treated with LCN2 showed significant increase in body weight in comparison with saline-treated diabetic group. Moreover, diabetic rats had significantly elevated blood glucose levels compared with non-diabetic rats. LCN2 treatment of diabetic rats caused a slight improvement in glucose levels after one week and two weeks when compared with the diabetic control rats however, no significant reduction were observed.



#### 4.1.1 Body Weight

Figure 6: Effects of LCN2 treatment on weight in normal and diabetic animals. Note significant differences in body weight between DMUT and DMT. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6



Figure 7: Effects of LCN2 on fasting plasma glucose levels in normal and diabetic animals. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6 Time course graphs representing the effect of LCN2 treatment on (a) body weight and (b) blood glucose levels in normal saline-administered, normal LCN2-administered, saline-administered diabetic and LCN2-administered as mean $\pm$  SEM, n=6.

## 4.1.3 IPGTT

To investigate the blood glucose homeostasis in the diabetic animals, all the experimental rat's glucose tolerance capacity was assessed. As shown in Figure (8), the diabetic animals showed significantly elevated glucose levels than the normal animals prior to glucose administration (P < 0.05). After intraperitoneal glucose administration, the blood glucose readings of the diabetic and normal rats reached the peak within thirty-minutes however, in the normal animals, lipocalin-2 caused a reduction in the FPG levels after 30 minutes of glucose challenge. Whereas both LCN2 and saline-treated normal control animals gradually returned to the basal levels after 120 minutes. In the diabetic group, lipocalin-2 treated diabetic animals exhibited

improvements in response to the glucose challenge when compared to normal-saline treated diabetic animals and lipocalin-2 caused a significant reduction in glucose levels after 60 minutes.



Figure 8. Effects of lipocalin-2 on IPGTT after 2 weeks of treatment of normal and diabetic animals. Note that the diabetic animals had significant higher glucose levels when compared with the normal animals prior to glucose administration and the glucose levels of the diabetic animals treated with LCN2 were significantly lower at 60 min after glucose administration compared to DMUT. Values represented as mean $\pm$  SEM, n=6

## 4.2 Insulin Release

Figure 9 shows the effect of LCN2 in stimulating insulin release from rat insulinoma cell line.



Figure 9: The effect of different concentrations of LCN2 in insulin secretion in INS-1 rat insulinoma cell line. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6 Figure (9) shows the results of the *in vitro* insulin secreting properties of LCN2 in cell culture in two different concentrations of glucose at 2.5 mM and 15 mM. Different LCN2 concentrations have been utilized in order to determine a dose-response curve for LCN2-induced insulin secretion effects. LCN2 at 10<sup>-8</sup> M and 10<sup>-12</sup> M stimulated the highest secretion of insulin in the lower glucose concentration while 10<sup>-10</sup> M showed less secretion. However, with the higher glucose concentration no significant effect on insulin secretion with LCN2 was detected.

# 4.3 Immunohistochemical Localization of LCN2

### 4.3.1 Co-localization Analysis of LCN2 with Insulin in Pancreas

Double-labeling immunofluorescence technique were used to investigate whether LCN2 co-localizes with insulin in islets of Langerhans of normal and diabetic Wistar rats. This study demonstrates that LCN2 co-localized with insulin in the pancreatic islets of Langerhans as shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Co-localization of LCN2 with insulin in pancreatic islet cells of normal and diabetic rats. (a) Insulin positive cells are shown by green fluorescence while LCN2-positive cells are shown in red. The yellow color demonstrates cells that express both LCN2 and insulin. (b) and (c) Morphometric analysis. Note that LCN2 positive cells contain both LCN2 and insulin. The micrographs are representative of 6 such animals. Scale bar =  $25 \mu m$ .

# 4.3.2 Co-localization Analysis of LCN2 with Glucagon in Pancreas

In order to investigate whether LCN2 and glucagon are expressed in the same cell, double labeling immunofluorescence was utilized using antibodies against LCN2 and glucagon. Glucagon was in the peripheral region of the pancreatic islets while


Figure 11: Co-localization of LCN2 with glucagon in pancreatic islet cells of normal and diabetic rats. In (a) Glucagon positive cells are shown by green fluorescence while LCN2-positive cells are shown in red. The yellow color demonstrates cells that express both LCN2 and glucagon. (b) and (c) represents the morphometric analysis. The micrographs are representative of 6 such animals. Scale bar =  $25 \mu m$ .

### 4.4 Electron Microscopy

In Figures 12 and 13, show that insulin and LCN2 co-localized in the pancreatic beta-cells. 15 nm rabbit anti-insulin and 10nm mouse anti-LCN2 gold particles

conjugated IgG, were detected to co-exist in granules of pancreatic beta-cells. The number of insulin secretory granules in normal animals was higher compared to diabetic animals. Furthermore, less co-localization is seen in diabetic animals due to derangements in granules structure and numbers as seen in Figure (13).



Figure 12: Electron micrograph showing (a)  $\beta$ -cell of normal rat treated with saline with intact secretory granules and (b)  $\beta$ -cell of normal rat treated with LCN2 Circled areas show the co-localization between insulin (15 nm) and LCN2 (10 nm). The electron micrographs are typical for 6 different animals in each group. (43 k)



Figure 13: Electron micrograph showing (a)  $\beta$ -cell of diabetic rat treated with saline with deformed secretory granules and (b)  $\beta$ -cell of diabetic rat treated with LCN2 Circled areas show the co-localization between insulin (15 nm) and LCN2 (10 nm) within the same granule. The electron micrographs are typical for 6 different animals in each group. (43 k)

# 4.5 Markers of Oxidative Stress

The antioxidant activity of lipocalin-2 has been tested in the serum and the pancreas tissue using colorimetric analysis and immunofluorescence analysis respectively. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) and Glutathione reductase (GSH-red) levels were markedly decreased in serum after the induction of DM. As shown in Figure (14), (15), (16) and (17) significant decline of antioxidant enzymes activities was observed in the STZ-induced diabetic animals. However, significant increase in the antioxidant enzymes SOD and GSH-reductase were found in serum of the LCN2 treated STZ-induced diabetic animals when compared to the diabetic control. showing improved ability of scavenging ROS. Moreover, all of the three target the enzyme's activities in the LCN2 treated diabetic animals showed almost normal levels and the LCN2-treated control animals showed higher GSH-reductase and SOD activity than the saline treated control animals.



Figure 14: Effects of LCN2 on SOD and GSH reductase in serum. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note the significant reduction in SOD and GSH-reductase levels after the induction of DM. LCN2 caused a significant increase in SOD and GSH reductase levels in serum.



Figure 15: Effects of LCN2 on GSH reductase in pancreas of normal and diabetic rats. Note the significant reduction in GSH reductase levels after the induction of DM. LCN2 caused a significant increase in GSH reductase levels in the pancreas. The micrographs are representative of 6 such animals. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Scale bar = 25  $\mu$ m.



Figure 16: Effects of LCN2 on SOD in pancreas of normal and diabetic rats. Note the significant reduction in SOD levels after the induction of DM. LCN2 caused a significant increase in SOD levels in the pancreas. The micrographs are representative of 6 such animals. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Scale bar = 25  $\mu$ m.



Figure 17: Effects of LCN2 on catalase in pancreas of normal and diabetic rats. Note the significant reduction in catalase levels after the induction of DM. LCN2 caused a significant increase in catalase levels in the pancreas. The micrographs are representative of 6 such animals. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Scale bar = 25  $\mu$ m.

#### 4.6 Effects of LCN2 on Biochemical Parameters

# 4.6.1 Liver Function Test

Figure 18: shows a significant increase in AST and ALT levels in diabetic control group compared to LCN2 treated and normal animals. Normal saline-animals in addition, showed higher levels in both AST and ALT when compared to LCN2-

treated controls, whereas there AST levels were also higher than the LCN2 received diabetic group.



Figure 18: LCN2 effect on AST and ALT. Values represented as mean $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note the significant elevation in AST and ALT levels in diabetic animals and the significant effect of LCN2 in reducing both enzymes levels in the diabetic animals.



Figure 19: shows a significant increase in ALP and Bilirubin levels in diabetic control group compared to LCN2 treated and normal animals. In addition, ALB and total protein were significantly down regulated in diabetic control animals when compared to the normal controls, and an improvement in ALB and total protein levels were detected in LCN2 treated diabetic animals.

# 4.6.2 Kidney Function Test

Figure (20) shows kidney function test parameters of urea, blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and creatinine. A significant increase in urea and blood urea nitrogen levels in diabetic control group compared to normal animals were found. LCN2 treatment resulted in a reduction in both levels of urea and blood urea nitrogen. However, no

significant difference was seen in creatinine levels between normal and diabetic animals with or without the treatment.



Figure 20. Effects of LCN2 on urea, BUN and creatinine. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note the significant elevation in urea and BUN levels after the induction of DM and the LCN2-induced decrease in both molecules. On the other hand there is no noticeable difference in the levels of creatinine in all of the experimental animals with or without the treatment.

# 4.6.3 Lipid Profile

Strategies for the prevention of dyslipidemia are essential for the management and treatment of DM. in general, dyslipidemia is marked with increased TC, TG, LDL-C levels and reduced HDL-C level in serum (Dixit & Kar, 2010). Lipid profile for all the experimental groups is shown in Figure 21 The result shows that LCN2 caused a significant reduction in triglycerides, LDL and total cholesterol levels in both normal and diabetic treated groups compared to saline-treated littermates. Hepatic lipase was upregulated after the induction of DM, however, it was decreased with LCN2 treatment. High-density lipoprotein levels decreased after the induction of DM and were improved to normal levels after the treatment with LCN2.



Figure 21: Effects of LCN2 on LDL, TG, TC, HDL and LIPC Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note the significant reduction in LDL, TG, and TC and the decrease in HDL and LIPC levels after the treatment by LCN2.

#### 4.7 Peptide Hormones Analysis

Figure (23) shows the levels of insulin in all groups. A significant reduction in the levels of insulin was seen in diabetic animals compared to the normal control. LCN2 caused a significant increase in the insulin levels in diabetic animals while it had no effect in non-diabetic animals. LCN2 also caused a significant increase in the levels of Amylin in diabetic treated group when compared to the diabetic control animals. Figure (22), shows the effects of LCN2 treatment on GIP and GLP-1. LCN2 treatment caused a significant elevation in GIP levels in both normal and diabetic group. On the other hand, diabetes mellitus induction caused a significant upregulation in GLP-1 levels, which in turn was decreased after LCN2 treatment in diabetic animals. LCN2 effects on leptin levels have been shown in Figure (25) were the induction of DM caused marked reduction in leptin levels however, slight improvement in leptin levels with LCN2 treatment was detected in the diabetic animals.

Furthermore, the data shows that there was a significant reduction in C-peptide in diabetic control group compared to normal control animals. LCN2 treatment significantly elevated the levels of C-peptide in diabetic animals. Figure (26) shows the effect of LCN2 on IL-6 and MCP1. DM induction caused a significant increase in the levels of IL-6 and MCP1 and the treatment with LCN2 resulted in a significant decrease in both levels of IL-6 and MCP1.



Figure 22: Effects of LCN2 on GIP and GLP-1 Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note that LCN2 significantly increased the levels of GIP in diabetic and normal animals and decreased GLP-1 levels in diabetic animals.



Figure 23: Effects of LCN2 on Amylin and Insulin Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note that LCN2 caused a significant increase in the levels of Amylin and insulin in the diabetic treated group when compared to the diabetic control group.



Figure 24: Effects of LCN2 on C-peptide. Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note that levels of c-peptide were decreased after induction of DM and LCN2 caused a significant increase in its levels when compared with the untreated diabetic animals.



Figure 25: Effects of LCN2 on Leptin Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=6. Note that LCN2 improved leptin levels in diabetic animals compared to diabetic control.



Figure 26: Effects of LCN2 on IL-6 and MCP-1 Values represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n= 6. Note that LCN2 significantly decreased both levels of IL-6 and MCP-1 when compared with the diabetic control animals.

# 4.8 Insulin Signaling Pathway

PI3k/Akt pathway provides a survival signal that preserve cells from cell death due to various stress stimuli, different important molecules downstream the insulin signaling pathways including p-Akt at Ser473 and total Akt were examined to determine whether the PI3K/Akt signal network was affected by LCN2 treatment in STZ induced diabetic rats. As shown in Figure 27, there is a decrease in phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 amino acid in the STZ-induced diabetic animals with almost no change in total Akt protein expression in the three examined tissues, however treatment with LCN2 enhanced the phosphorylation of Akt at Ser 473.



Figure 27: Effect of LCN2 on downstream targets of PI3K/Akt pathway in pancreas, liver and gastrocnemius muscle of LCN2-STZ treated diabetic rats. Animals were starved for 12 h and treated with or without STZ (60 mg/kg) body weight followed by stimulation with 8  $\mu$ g/Kg of LCN2 for 5 consecutive days/week for two weeks. Total cell lysates were prepared and 50  $\mu$ g proteins ran on SDS-PAGE followed by western blot analysis and reactive bands were detected using ECL plus substrate. Equal loading of protein was confirmed by probing the house keeping gene antibody GAPDH on the same western blot membrane.

#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

#### **5.1 Metabolic Parameters**

#### 5.1.1 Body Weight

All animals were maintained under similar conditions with access to water and food for the full duration of the study. The presented results show that untreated diabetic rats suffered from significant weight loss when compared with age-matched normal controls. STZ-induced diabetic rats treated with LCN2 showed significant increase in body weight and were able to maintain their normal body weight in comparison with saline-treated diabetic group. Although LCN2 is shown to inhibit food intake and acts as satiety signal via crossing the blood brain barrier and activating MC4R appetite suppressing pathway (Huang et al., 2012; Petropoulou et al., 2020). No significant weight change in the body weight of the non-diabetic LCN2 treated group were found in comparison with the saline treated normal group. Moreover, LCN2 reversed the weight loss associated with diabetic induction by STZ.

#### 5.1.2 Glucose Levels

In normal animals treated with LCN2 and untreated similar fasting plasma glucose levels were found. on the other hand, the diabetic groups showed significantly higher glucose levels and treatment with LCN2 was not able to significantly decrease the plasma glucose levels. although LCN2 has been reported to improve glucose metabolism via inducing insulin secretion by various studies (Huang et al., 2012). It is important to note that the dosage used in this study and the treatment period are considered to be small compared to those studies. As well as the animal models and strains could also be another factor influencing the result.

#### 5.1.3 Intraperitoneal Glucose Tolerance Test (IPGTT)

Plasma glucose levels before glucose administration were markedly higher in the diabetic group compared to control group. This study demonstrated that saline treatment was not able to reverse the sudden increase in plasma glucose levels after 30 minutes of the glucose load in control animals, however, lipocalin-2 treatment caused a reduction in plasma glucose levels after 30 minutes of glucose administration. On the other hand, all the diabetic groups had similar glucose readings after 30, 90 and 120 minutes of the glucose load. However, lipocalin-2 treated group showed a significant decrease in glucose level after 60 minutes of the glucose administration.

#### 5.2 Effects of LCN2 on Insulin Secretion In Vitro

The data show that LCN2 has a profound secretagogue effect on insulin secretion at a dose of 10-8 M and 10-12 M in the established cell culture. LCN2, at a dose of 10-8 M and 10-12 M resulted in a significant elevation in the levels of insulin compared to control in the presence of 2.5 mM glucose. In the higher concentration of glucose (15 mM), the same dose of LCN2 did not result in a significant elevation in the insulin levels, however 10-10 M dose decreased the levels of insulin in both the lower (2.5 mM) and the higher (15 mM) concentration of glucose.

#### 5.3 Immunohistochemical Localization of LCN2

The number of islet cells containing LCN2 was significantly lower in the pancreatic islet of diabetic rats when compared to normal rats. Double-labeling immunofluorescence technique were used to investigate whether LCN2 co-localizes with insulin in islets of Langerhans of normal and diabetic Wistar rats. This study demonstrates that LCN2 co-localized with insulin. The percentage distribution of

LCN2 and insulin-positive cells was close in both normal and diabetic rats, indicating high degree of co-localization. The number of LCN2 and insulin expressing cells declined significantly in STZ-induced diabetic rats in comparison to normal rats. The pattern of distribution of insulin and LCN2 has been altered after DM onset.

In order to determine whether LCN2 and glucagon are found in the same cell, double labeling immunofluorescence was utilized using antibodies against LCN2 and glucagon. Glucagon was in the peripheral region of the pancreatic islets while LCN2 was seen in cells that dominate the middle part of the pancreatic islets of Langerhans. There was no evidence of co-localization of LCN2 with glucagon in pancreatic islet alpha cells in the normal rats. However, the pattern of distribution of glucagon containing cells changed from peripheral dominant cells to center located islet cells in diabetic rats. The number of glucagon expressing cells elevated in the islets of diabetic rats and some degree of co-localization were found.

# 5.4 Distribution of Lipocalin-2 (LCN2) in Cytoplasmic Organelles of Islet Cells EM

Since LCN2 was found to co-localize with insulin using double-labeling immunofluorescence. Immunoelectron microscopy was conducted to determine the intracellular localization of LCN2 in pancreatic islet cells and to further confirm what was found at the light microscopy level. Multiple sizes of gold particles conjugated to IgG were assessed to study the level of co-localization of LCN2 and insulin in the cytoplasmic organelles of the beta cells. ultrathin sections processed for immunoelectron staining showed that pancreatic beta cells definitely contain LCN2. Gold particles conjugated IgG (10 nm) against LCN2 were observed on the secretory granules of islet beta cells accompanied by anti-insulin antibodies conjugated to 15 nm gold particles. The number of 15 nm gold particles against insulin and the 10 nm gold particles conjugated to LCN2 antibody markedly decreased after the onset of DM.

Although several researches have shown the pattern of LCN2 expression, this is the first time to use electron microscope to localize LCN2 in the insulin-producing beta-cells. Furthermore, the findings also demonstrate the pronounced cellular organelle deformation and the morphological changes in the  $\beta$ -cells of the diabetic animals, nuclear envelope destruction and nucleus shrinkage, enlargement of the endoplasmic reticulum and the mitochondria and diminished secretory granules. These structural deformities are responsible for the functional disorders in beta-cells which mainly affect the expression and release of insulin. Moreover, the EM investigation confirmed the immunofluorescence findings that showed the co-localization of insulin and LCN2 in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells in both normal and diabetic animals. This co-localization can explain a possible modulatory role of LCN2 in insulin-producing  $\beta$ -cells (Huang et al., 2012).

#### 5.5 Effects of LCN2 on Antioxidant Enzymes Activities in Serum

Oxidative stress is a common hallmark of both T1DM and T2DM; increased biomarkers of oxidative stress are found in blood, urine and tissues including pancreas of diabetic patients (Wang & Wang, 2017). In chronic hyperglycemia state, due to several biochemical pathways such as nonenzymatic glycation of proteins, lipid peroxidation and DNA oxidation increased autooxidation and generation of free radicals is observed (Singh et al., 2005). The elevation in the reactive oxygen species and the decline in the antioxidant defense mechanisms results in cellular damage and the pathogenesis of vascular complications (Meenatchi et al., 2017). The common anti-oxidant enzymes in mammals superoxide dismutase, glutathione reductase and

catalase have a key roles in reducing and alleviating the oxidative stress in vivo (H. Zhao et al., 2016). Decrease in the antioxidants pool has been commonly observed in the diabetic rats (Ananthan et al., 2004). Therefore, increased antioxidant enzymes activities are the hallmark of anti-hyperglycemia. The antioxidant function of lipocalin-2 have been previously studied in different stress conditions (Roudkenar et al., 2007; Roudkenar et al., 2011; Yamada et al., 2016). And it has been shown to exert a cytoprotective effect against oxidative stress (Roudkenar et al., 2008; Halabian et al., 2013; Roudkenar et al., 2009). This result supports and extends the previous knowledge of the role of LCN2 in protecting against oxidative stress by increasing the antioxidant pool. As shown in Figure 14, significant decline of antioxidant enzymes activities was observed in the STZ-induced diabetic animals. However, significant increase in the antioxidant enzymes SOD and GSH-reductase were found in serum and the pancreas tissue of the LCN2 treated STZ-induced diabetic animals when compared to the diabetic control showing improved ability of scavenging ROS. Moreover, all of the target enzyme's activities in the LCN2 treated diabetic animals showed almost normal levels and the LCN2-treated control animals showed higher SOD and GSHreductase activity than the saline treated control animals. The results suggests that LCN2 significantly reduces and alleviate oxidative stress induced by the hyperglycemia.

#### 5.6 Effect of LCN2 on Biochemical Parameters

# 5.6.1 Liver and Kidney Function

In this study, significant increase in aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine amino transferase (ALT) were observed post DM onset. Treatment with LCN2 lead to a significant reduction in AST and ALT in both diabetic and control animals. This decrease in AST and ALT levels suggests a protective effect of LCN2 on the liver function in DM. AST and ALT are liver enzymes that their levels are used as an indicator for liver function. AST is present in the cytoplasm and mitochondria of multiple body organs other than the liver including the heart, kidney, muscle, and RBCs. Liver damage results in the release of AST into the bloodstream and the diabetic animal model used in this study is characterized by upregulation in liver enzymes. Inaddition lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress are also marked by an increase in AST which why the antioxidative stress role of LCN2 was further assessed in this study. In the liver, the precise role of LCN2 administration has not been investigated yet, however LCN2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were used in multiple studies to investigate the functional roles of endogenous LCN2 in multiple experimental liver injury models. In one study, the challenge with acute toxic chemicals or the establishment of mechanical induced cholestasis, had a significant liver damage in LCN2<sup>-/-</sup> mice as evidenced by elevated liver enzymes, AST and ALT post CCl<sub>4</sub>, ConA and LPS application. This suggests that rapid LCN2 induction after direct toxic insult have a protective effect on hepatic cells (Borkham-Kamphorst et al., 2013).

Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) is an enzyme found to be primarily expressed by liver and bone, it has been shown to be increased in diabetes patients in comparison with non-diabetic controls. This result comes in line with another study by (Chen et al., 2017) were they showed that Plasma ALP is an independent risk factor for the incident of diabetes after adjusting other liver-related factors. And in this study, STZ administration caused a significant increase in plasma ALP levels. However, treatment with LCN2 caused a marked reduction in ALP levels.

Elevation in bilirubin levels is a marker for severe liver injury which is seen in diabetic state (Zeng & Liu, 2019). The result further proved this observation, as significant increase in bilirubin levels were found after the induction of DM, however, treatment with LCN2 caused marked reduction in bilirubin levels.

In the body, serum albumin makes up major portion of the circulating proteins. It is well known that in diabetes state, the total protein level decreases due to protein breakdown as a source for energy. The results showed a significant decrease in albumin levels after the induction of diabetes. However, treatment with LCN2 improved serum albumin levels.

In this study, the kidney function were assessed through measuring creatinine, urea and blood urea nitrogen levels in the serum. DM induction resulted in significant increase in the levels of both urea and blood urea nitrogen in serum. LCN2 was able to reduce both molecules' levels in diabetic and normal LCN2 treated animals. However, creatinine had a minor elevation to no change after DM induction. In literature, different research groups have investigated the role of LCN2, and kidney injury and they have all agreed that LCN2 is a good predictor of acute kidney injury and biomarker for chronic kidney diseases (Tang et al., 2010) since the levels of endogenous LCN2 were higher in patients suffering from kidney disease.

Decreased total protein levels could indicate liver and/or kidney disorders while elevated protein levels than normal are suggestive of dehydration or cancer. As the aim was to prove the protective role of LCN2 in diabetes mellitus, the increase and improvement of total protein levels by LCN2 suggests the capability of the peptide in reversing diabetic induced liver or kidney damage, in addition to reversing protein breakdown as reported for DM in several studies. It has been reported that protein is catabolized in severe diabetic conditions where cells are deprived of glucose (Charlton & Nair, 1998).

#### 5.6.2 Lipid Profile

This study showed that LCN2 significantly reduced TG levels in both diabetic and non-diabetic animals. Moreover, there was a decline in HDL levels after the induction of DM however, an improvement in HDL level was observed after LCN2 treatment. Significant decrease was detected in LDL-C levels with the treatment of LCN2. No food and water restrictions were implied on all the experimental animal groups showing that food uptake had no effect on serum TG levels. LCN2 ability to reverse hypertriglyceridemia and its critical role in lipid metabolism has been investigated earlier. LCN2 deficiency in mice has been shown to potentiates HFDinduced obesity, dyslipidemia, fatty liver, glucose intolerance, and insulin insensitivity (Guo et al., 2010; Asimakopoulou et al., 2014).

# 5.7 Effects of LCN2 Treatment on Peptide Hormones of Normal and Diabetic Animals

In the study, the effects of LCN2 on various other peptides that play a critical role in metabolism and metabolic diseases such as diabetes and obesity have been studied. Glucose balance can be maintained directly via regulating glucose synthesis and storage or indirectly by regulating peptide hormones that could influence glucose levels like insulin and glucagon, based on this the effect of LCN2 treatment on insulin hormone were investigated.

The pancreas plays a key role in body metabolism by synthesizing and secreting multiple peptide hormones like insulin, glucagon and amylin. The results showed that STZ administration caused a marked decrease in insulin levels in diabetic animals compared to normal animals. Treatment of normal animals with LCN2 had no effect in insulin levels when compared to saline-treated animals, however, treatment with LCN2 caused a significant increase in insulin levels in diabetic treated animals in comparison with the saline-treated animals. This upregulation in serum insulin levels was detected only in the diabetic group which mean that enhancement of insulin secretion could be glucose-dependent as this was not found in normal animals. This result is consistent with those of (Mosialou et al., 2020) which was conducted to investigate whether LCN2 is need it for  $\beta$ -cell adaptation to higher metabolic load via placing murine on HFD. LCN2 stimulated and increased the secretion of insulin approximately two folds higher in the WT mice in comparison to the Lcn2-/- which was unable to elevate insulin levels to meet the elevated requirement of the metabolic demand. This insulinotropic activity of LCN2 can be by stimulating  $\beta$ -cell proliferation and mass or by upregulating insulin gene expression. The actual molecular mechanism remains unknown. To verify these findings, C-peptide levels were measured as well. C-peptide levels can offer a measure of pancreatic cell activity that is preferable to insulin levels (Bell & Ovalle, 2000;Bulboacă et al., 2019) and values showed similar trend to the serum insulin levels, LCN2 caused a marked elevation in C-peptide in diabetic and normal animals. The significant improvement of C-peptide shows that beta-cell function can be partially preserved by LCN2 treatment. This can constitute a valuable strategy in diabetes treatment.

Amylin, another hormone synthesized and secreted by the pancreas and has a function in glucose homeostasis through assisting insulin action in addition to its function as a satiety agent (Ping Caoa, Peter Mareka, Harris Noora, Vadim Patsalob, Ling-Hsien Tua, Hui Wanga, Andisheh Abedinic, 2013). There was a downregulation in amylin levels after STZ injection and the data shows that LCN2 resulted in significant elevation in amylin levels in diabetic group. Amylin is co-produced with insulin in the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, the effects of LCN2 on amylin had the same trend to its effect on insulin. Different other peptide hormones including GIP, GLP-1 and leptin were investigated and the findings demonstrate that LCN2 significantly elevated serum GIP levels in diabetic and normal animals. In addition, LCN2 effects on GLP-1 which also belongs to the incretins family has been studied and the result showed that diabetes mellitus induction resulted in a marked elevation in GLP-1 levels compared to normal animals. LCN2 treatment caused a decrease in GLP-1 levels in diabetic animals while no change was detected in normal animals. This result may be found opposing since GLP-1 and its agonists are used clinically in the management of diabetes mellitus and glucose levels. Having said that, these findings can be supported by the fact that GLP-1 resistances can develop due to hyperglycemia and genetic alterations in diabetic risk genes TCF7L2 and WFS1 (Heni et al., 2012)

This proposed mechanism is confirmed by multiple different studies that showed a decrease of GLP-1 (Nauck et al., 1993) stimulates efficacy in patients with diabetes mellitus. Limited knowledge is known about the correlation between LCN2 and incretins.

Leptin was also investigated as it has an important role in energy homeostasis. Diabetes mellitus induction resulted in a significant decrease in leptin serum levels.LCN2 treatment improved leptin levels in normal and diabetic animals. Previous researches demonstrated that leptin levels elevated in normal and diabetic animals after leptin infusion inverted hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia in STZ-induced diabetes mellitus and high fat diet induced diabetes mellitus (Denroche et al., 2011). As a result, the hypoglycemic effects of LCN2 may be exerted through leptin levels improvement as the data showed in the diabetic and normal rats. Mice deficient in LCN2 showed more weight gain when placed on high fat diet (HFD), severe insulin resistance, and impaired thermogenesis (Guo et al., 2010). Moreover, osteoblastspecific knockout of Lcn2 in murine resulted in glucose intolerance, insulin resistance, and pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction that caused a reduction in insulin secretion post glucose challenge (Mosialou et al., 2020).

# 5.8 Effects of LCN2 Treatment on Inflammatory Markers of Normal and Diabetic Animals

Inflammation could be a cause and/or a result of diabetes mellitus and it is responsible for many complications that rise as a result of diabetes such as cardiovascular, renal, retinal and neuronal complications. Inflammatory markers and mediators such as IL-6 family and other chemokines like MCP-1 are suggested to be implicated in the pathogenesis of T1DM and T2DM (Kristiansen & Mandrup-Poulsen, 2004; Padgett et al., 2013) reported that pro inflammatory cytokines are involved in pancreatic islet cells death by triggering apoptotic or necrotic processes. IL-6 ability as a molecule to regulate the glucose metabolism has also been suggested by acting directly on the pancreatic cells and other different types of cells like the skeletal muscle cells, fat cells, hepatic cells, and neuroendocrine cells (Kristiansen & Mandrup-Poulsen, 2004. Whereas MCP-1, In addition to its role as a chemoattractant protein that is secreted by inflammatory cells, it could induce cellular death by oxidative stress

pathways (Kolattukudy & Niu, 2012). Beta cells possesses a limited ability to recover from cytokine insult, through repairing DNA damage, and enhancing insulin secretion in case the cytokine action is shorter than 24 hours (Scarim et al., 1997). However, irreversible cell destruction will result after 24 hours (Scarim et al., 1997). The proinflammatory cytokines induce an early necrotic process of islet cells, and with prolonged cytokine action that can be turned into late apoptosis (Hughes et al., 2009). DM induced by Streptozotocin (STZ) administration is a common experimental model to investigate diabetes mellitus-associated with inflammation stimulated by the cytotoxic effect of STZ on pancreatic beta cells. Therefore, rapid mediation of proinflammatory cytokines is considered major contributors to decrease beta-cells destruction, caused by inflammatory process. Due to that the possible antiinflammatory role of LCN2 was investigated in the diabetic model used. LCN2 treatment had a marked effect on IL-6 where it caused a significant reduction in the serum levels of IL-6. Moreover, MCP-1 was significantly increased after the induction of DM and LCN2 treatment caused a significant decrease. This highlights the antiinflammatory action of LCN2.

# **5.9 Insulin Signaling Pathway**

It has been demonstrated that PI3K/Akt signaling pathway have a crucial role in insulin signal transduction (Li et al., 2015). In this study, the expressions of key proteins in glucose metabolism pathway including p-Akt (ser473) and total Akt were studied to determine whether LCN2 treatment in STZ-induced diabetic rat had an effect on the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. As shown in Figure (27), the levels of total Akt in the three different tissues across all of the groups remained unchanged however, the study demonstrated a noticeable increase in the Akt phosphorylation in the three examined tissues compared to the diabetic control.

#### **Chapter 6: Conclusion**

This research provided evidence about the co-localization of LCN2 with insulin and glucagon in normal and diabetic pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. In addition, LCN2 significantly decreased levels of AST, ALT, ALP, bilirubin, CHOL, TG, LDL and improved the levels of total protein, ALB and HDL and decreased levels of BUN, Urea and LIPC in diabetic animals. Moreover, the levels of insulin, c-peptide, amylin and GIP were markedly increased while GLP-1 levels were reduced and leptin levels were improved in diabetic animals treated with LCN2. Furthermore, LCN2 showed a significant antioxidant activity by increasing GSH, SOD and CAT levels in pancreas in normal and diabetic animals, as well as their levels in serum. Finally, the in vitro observations show that at a concentration of 10<sup>-8</sup> M and 10<sup>-12</sup> M LCN2 caused the most significant effect on insulin secretion from the INS-1 rat insulinoma cell line.

### **Chapter 7: Limitations**

Some limitations for this study can be highlighted in this section including the model of DM used in the study, which is by STZ-induced model of DM. STZ is a toxin that is known to be highly selective for pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, however, it is unknown whether STZ can affect other organs and biological functions or not. furthermore, the dose and the period of the treatment used were relatively short compared to doses and durations of treatment where LCN2 was reported to increase insulin sensitivity and weight reducing effects in literature.

In literature, LCN2 role in metabolic syndromes and energy metabolism has been studied in a knockout model however, this is the first time to use exogenous LCN2 in an in vivo study of metabolic syndrome.

#### **Chapter 8: Advancement in the Field**

Management of type 1 diabetes (T1D) is currently based entirely on insulin replacement therapy. However, there is a requirement for better glycemic control, lower hypoglycemia rates, weight management, and additional reduction of cardiovascular risk in T1D patients.

The peptide therapy approaches are leading the way in pre-clinical and clinical development for both T1D and other diseases. They are entering an exciting phase of drug development.

At the moment peptide immunotherapy for T1D is extensively researched and it is very promising since peptide immunotherapy offers the ability to re-establish immune homeostasis by elevating regulatory T-cell population and decreasing/deleting the pathogenic T-cell pool. This is the optimal solution for T1D since it triggers the primary cause of the beta cell destruction and depletion and preserve the remaining cells to protect the patient's endogenous insulin secretion. However, a key challenge in this approach is that by the time of diagnosis substantial loss of beta cells has already taken place. So, in this case some patients optimal solution will include insulin therapies with an adjunct therapy.

the study shows that peptides like Lipocalin-2 can be used as adjunctive therapy to insulin therapies for diabetes mellitus to protect from further progression of the disease and the onset of the various complications via optimizing metabolic control, weight management, limiting and reducing the glycemic variability in patients with T1D and ameliorating the signs and outcome of DM.

#### References

- Adler, M., Hoffmann, D., Ellinger-ziegelbauer, H., Hewitt, P., Matheis, K., Mulrane, L., Gallagher, W. M., Callanan, J. J., Suter, L., Fountoulakis, M. M., Dekant, W., Mally, A., & Kgaa, M. (2010). Assessment of candidate biomarkers of drug-induced hepatobiliary injury in preclinical toxicity studies. *Toxicology Letters*, 196(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.03.018
- Ahlqvist, E., Storm, P., Käräjämäki, A., Martinell, M., Dorkhan, M., Carlsson, A., Vikman, P., Prasad, R. B., Aly, D. M., Almgren, P., Wessman, Y., Shaat, N., Spégel, P., Mulder, H., Lindholm, E., Melander, O., Hansson, O., Malmqvist, U., Lernmark, Å., ... Groop, L. (2018). Novel subgroups of adult-onset diabetes and their association with outcomes: a data-driven cluster analysis of six variables. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, *6*(5), 361–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30051-2
- Ahrén, B. (2013). Incretin therapy for type 2 diabetes: GLP-1 receptor agonists and DPP-4 inhibitors. *European Diabetes Nursing*, 10(1), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/edn.221
- Aigner, F., Maier, H. T., Schwelberger, H. G., Wallnöfer, E. A., Amberger, A., Obrist, P., Berger, T., Mak, T. W., Maglione, M., Margreiter, R., Schneeberger, S., & Troppmair, J. (2007). Lipocalin-2 regulates the inflammatory response during ischemia and reperfusion of the transplanted heart. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 7(4), 779–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01723.x
- Albert Einstein Institute for Animal Studies. (2015). Recommended Methods of Anesthesia, Analgesia, and Euthanasia for Laboratory Animal Species. *Laboratory Animal*, 1(718), 1–12.
- Ananthan, R., Latha, M., Ramkumar, K. M., Pari, L., Baskar, C., & Bai, V. N. (2004). Modulatory effects of Gymnema montanum leaf extract on alloxaninduced oxidative stress in wistar rats. *Nutrition*, 20(3), 280–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2003.11.016
- Anderson, P., & Delgado, M. (2008). Endogenous anti-inflammatory neuropeptides and pro-resolving lipid mediators: A new therapeutic approach for immune disorders. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 12(5B), 1830–1847. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00387.x
- Arellano-buendía, A. S., García-arroyo, F. E., Cristóbal-garcía, M., Loredo-mendoza, M. L., Tapia-rodríguez, E., Sánchez-lozada, L. G., & Osorio-alonso, H. (2014).
   Urinary Excretion of Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin in Diabetic Rats. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* DOI: 10.1155/2014/961326.
- Aroda, V. R., Knowler, W. C., Crandall, J. P., Perreault, L., Edelstein, S. L., Jeffries, S. L., Molitch, M. E., Pi-Sunyer, X., Darwin, C., Heckman-Stoddard, B. M., Temprosa, M., Kahn, S. E., & Nathan, D. M. (2017). Metformin for diabetes prevention: insights gained from the Diabetes Prevention Program/Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. *Diabetologia*, 60(9), 1601–1611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4361-9

- Ashraf, M. I., Schwelberger, H. G., Brendel, K. A., Feurle, J., Andrassy, J., Kotsch, K., Regele, H., Pratschke, J., Maier, H. T., & Aigner, F. (2016). Exogenous Lipocalin 2 Ameliorates Acute Rejection in a Mouse Model of Renal Transplantation. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 16(3), 808–820. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13521
- Asimakopoulou, A., Borkham-kamphorst, E., Henning, M., Yagmur, E., Gassler, N., Liedtke, C., Berger, T., Mak, T. W., & Weiskirchen, R. (2014). Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Lipocalin-2 (LCN2) regulates PLIN5 expression and intracellular lipid droplet formation in the liver. *BBA - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1841(10), 1513–1524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.07.017
- Asimakopoulou, A., Borkham-Kamphorst, E., Henning, M., Yagmur, E., Gassler, N., Liedtke, C., Berger, T., Mak, T. W., & Weiskirchen, R. (2014). Lipocalin-2 (LCN2) regulates PLIN5 expression and intracellular lipid droplet formation in the liver. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1841(10), 1513–1524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.07.017
- Atlas, I. D. F. D. (2019). 463 MILLION PEOPLE LIVING WITH DIABETES. The International Diabetes Federation. https://www.idf.org/news/169:diabetesatlas-reports-463-million-with-diabetes.html Accessed on 20/10/2020
- Baggio, L. L., & Drucker, D. J. (2007). Biology of Incretins: GLP-1 and GIP. Gastroenterology, 132(6), 2131–2157. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.054
- Barabási, A.-L., Gulbahce, N., & Loscalzo, J. (2011). An Integrative Systems Medicine Approach to Mapping Human Metabolic Diseases. *Nat Rev Genet*, 12(1), 56–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2918.Network
- Belcher, J. M., Garcia-Tsao, G., Sanyal, A. J., Thiessen-Philbrook, H., Peixoto, A. J., Perazella, M. A., Ansari, N., Lim, J., Coca, S. G., & Parikh, C. R. (2014). Urinary Biomarkers and Progression of AKI in Patients with Cirrhosis. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 9(11), 1857–1867. https://doi.org/10.2215/cjn.09430913
- Bennett, M., Dent, C. L., Ma, Q., Dastrala, S., Grenier, F., Workman, R., Syed, H., Ali, S., Barasch, J., & Devarajan, P. (2008). Urine NGAL predicts severity of acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery: A prospective study. *Clinical Journal* of the American Society of Nephrology, 3(3), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.04010907
- Bhusal, A., Rahman, H., Lee, I., & Suk, K. (2019). Role of Hippocampal Lipocalin-2 in Experimental Diabetic Encephalopathy. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 10(1), 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00025
- Bläser, J., Triebel, S., & Tschesche, H. (1995). A sandwich enzyme immunoassay for the determination of neutrophil lipocalin in body fluids. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 235(2), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-8981(95)06020-7

- Borkham-Kamphorst, E., Drews, F., & Weiskirchen, R. (2011). Induction of lipocalin-2 expression in acute and chronic experimental liver injury moderated by pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin-1β through nuclear factor-κB activation. *Liver International*, 31(5), 656–665. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02495.x
- Borkham-Kamphorst, E., van de Leur, E., Zimmermann, H. W., Karlmark, K. R., Tihaa, L., Haas, U., Tacke, F., Berger, T., Mak, T. W., & Weiskirchen, R. (2013). Protective effects of lipocalin-2 (LCN2) in acute liver injury suggest a novel function in liver homeostasis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1832(5), 660–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.01.014
- Bradley C, Pierce MB, Hendrieckx C, Riazi A and Barendse S (1998) Diabetes Mellitus. In M Johnston and DW Johnston (Eds) Health Psychology, Vol. 8 in AS Bellack and M Hersen (Eds) Comprehensive Clinical Psychology, Oxford: Elsevier Science, 277–304.
- Brand-Miller, J., Hayne, S., Petocz, P., & Colagiuri, S. (2003). Low-glycemic index diets in the management of diabetes: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Diabetes Care*, 26(8), 2261–2267. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.26.8.2261
- Brissova, M., Haliyur, R., Saunders, D., Shrestha, S., Dai, C., Blodgett, D. M., Bottino, R., Campbell-Thompson, M., Aramandla, R., Poffenberger, G., Lindner, J., Pan, F. C., von Herrath, M. G., Greiner, D. L., Shultz, L. D., Sanyoura, M., Philipson, L. H., Atkinson, M., Harlan, D. M., ... Powers, A. C. (2018). α Cell Function and Gene Expression Are Compromised in Type 1 Diabetes. *Cell Reports*, 22(10), 2667–2676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.02.032
- Brouwers, O., Niessen, P. M. G., Miyata, T., Østergaard, J. A., & Schalkwijk, C. G. (2014). Glyoxalase-1 overexpression reduces endothelial dysfunction and attenuates early renal impairment in a rat model of diabetes. *Diabetologia*,57(1) 224–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-013-3088-5
- Bulboacă, A. E., Boarescu, P. M., Bolboacă, S. D., Blidaru, M., Feştilă, D., Dogaru, G., & Nicula, C. A. (2019). Comparative effect of curcumin versus liposomal curcumin on systemic pro-inflammatory cytokines profile, MCP-1 and RANTES in experimental diabetes mellitus. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 8961–8972. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S226790
- Candido, S., Abrams, S. L., Steelman, L. S., Lertpiriyapong, K., Fitzgerald, T. L., Martelli, A. M., Cocco, L., Montalto, G., Cervello, M., Polesel, J., Libra, M., & McCubrey, J. A. (2016). Roles of NGAL and MMP-9 in the tumor microenvironment and sensitivity to targeted therapy. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, *1863*(3), 438–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.08.010

- Chakraborty, S., Kaur, S., Muddana, V., Sharma, N., Wittel, U. A., Papachristou, G. I., Whitcomb, D., Brand, R. E., & Batra, S. K. (2010). Elevated serum neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin is an early predictor of severity and outcome in acute pancreatitis. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 105(9), 2050–2059. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2010.23
- Chalasani, N., Younossi, Z., Lavine, J. E., Diehl, A. M., Brunt, E. M., Cusi, K., Charlton, M., & Sanyal, A. J. (2012). The diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Practice Guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, American College of Gastroenterology, and the American Gastroenterological Association. *Hepatology*, 55(6), 2005–2023. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.25762
- Chen, S. C. C., Tsai, S. P., Jhao, J. Y., Jiang, W. K., Tsao, C. K., & Chang, L. Y. (2017). Liver Fat, Hepatic Enzymes, Alkaline Phosphatase and the Risk of Incident Type 2 Diabetes: A Prospective Study of 132,377 Adults. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04631-7
- Choi, K. M., Lee, J. S., Kim, E. J., Baik, S. H., Seo, H. S., Choi, D. S., Oh, D. J., & Park, C. G. (2008). Implication of lipocalin-2 and visfatin levels in patients with coronary heart disease. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 158(2), 203–207. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-07-0633
- Chu, S. T., Lin, H. J., Huang, H. L., & Chen, Y. H. (1998). The hydrophobic pocket of 24p3 protein from mouse uterine luminal fluid: Fatty acid and retinol binding activity and predicted structural similarity to lipocalins. *Journal of Peptide Research*, *52*(5), 390–397. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3011.1998.tb00663.x
- Chung, T. W., Choi, H. J., Kim, C. H., Jeong, H. S., & Ha, K. T. (2013). Lipocalin-2 elicited by advanced glycation end-products promotes the migration of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, 1833(12), 3386–3395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.10.011
- Cnop, M., Welsh, N., Jonas, J., Jorns, A., Lenzen, S., & Eizirik, D. (2005). Mechanisms of pancreatic β-cell destruction in type I diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 11(SUPPL. 1), 16–23.
- Cnop, Miriam, Vidal, J., Hull, R. L., Utzschneider, K. M., Carr, D. B., Schraw, T., Scherer, P. E., Boyko, E. J., Fujimoto, W. Y., & Kahn, S. E. (2007). Progressive loss of β-cell function leads to worsening glucose tolerance in first-degree relatives of subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 30(3), 677–682. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-1834
- Colagiuri, S. (2010). Diabesity: Therapeutic options. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 12*(6), 463–473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01182.x
- Costa, D., Lazzarini, E., Canciani, B., Giuliani, A., Spanò, R., Marozzi, K., Manescu, A., Cancedda, R., & Tavella, S. (2013). Altered bone development and turnover in transgenic mice over-expressing Lipocalin-2 in bone. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 228(11), 2210–2221. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24391

- Courtney, M., Gjernes, E., Druelle, N., Ravaud, C., Vieira, A., Ben-Othman, N., Pfeifer, A., Avolio, F., Leuckx, G., Lacas-Gervais, S., Burel-Vandenbos, F., Ambrosetti, D., Hecksher-Sorensen, J., Ravassard, P., Heimberg, H., Mansouri, A., & Collombat, P. (2013). The Inactivation of Arx in Pancreatic α-Cells Triggers Their Neogenesis and Conversion into Functional β-Like Cells. *PLoS Genetics*, 9(10), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003934
- Cowland, J. B., & Borregaard, N. (1997). Molecular characterization and pattern of tissue expression of the gene for neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin from humans. *Genomics*, 45(1), 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1997.4896
- Cowland, J. B., & Borregaard, N. (1999). The individual regulation of granule protein mRNA levels during neutrophil maturation explains the heterogeneity of neutrophil granules. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 66(6), 989–995. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.66.6.989
- Cowland, J. B., Sørensen, O. E., Sehested, M., & Borregaard, N. (2003). Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin Is Up-Regulated in Human Epithelial Cells by IL-1β, but Not by TNF-α. *The Journal of Immunology*, *171*(12), 6630–6639. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.12.6630
- Cristina Aguayo-Mazzucato1, Joshua Andle1, Terrence B Lee Jr1, Ayush Midha1, Lindsay Talemal1, Vaja Chipashvili1, Jennifer Hollister-Lock1, Jan van Deursen2, Gordon Weir1, and S. B.-W. (2019). *Acceleration of β-cell aging determines diabetes and senolysis improves disease outcomes*. 30(1), 129–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.05.006.Acceleration
- Damond, N., Engler, S., Zanotelli, V. R. T., Schapiro, D., Clive, H., Kusmartseva, I., Nick, H. S., Thorel, F., & Herrera, P. L. (2019). A Map of Human Type 1 Diabetes Progression by Imaging Mass Cytometry. *Cell Metabolism. 29*(3), 755–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.11.014.A
- Darnell, J. E. (1997). STATs and Gene Regulation. Science, 277(5332), 1630-1635.
- Del Guerra, S., Lupi, R., Marselli, L., Masini, M., Bugliani, M., Sbrana, S., Torri, S., Pollera, M., Boggi, U., Mosca, F., Del Prato, S., & Marchetti, P. (2005).
  Functional and molecular defects of pancreatic islets in human type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 54(3), 727–735. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.54.3.727
- Denroche, H. C., Levi, J., Wideman, R. D., Sequeira, R. M., Huynh, F. K., Covey, S. D., & Kieffer, T. J. (2011). Leptin therapy reverses hyperglycemia in mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes, independent of hepatic leptin signaling. *Diabetes*, 60(5), 1414–1423. https://doi.org/10.2337/db10-0958
- Devireddy, L. R., Gazin, C., Zhu, X., & Green, M. R. (2005). A cell-surface receptor for lipocalin 24p3 selectively mediates apoptosis and iron uptake. *Cell*, 123(7), 1293–1305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.10.027
- Diego, S. A. N., Comtex, P., Network, N., & Pharmaceuticals, A. (2006). FDA Approves BYETTA (R) (exenatide) Injection for Expanded Combination Use Millions of People Using Thiazolidinediones Now Have New Treatment Option to Manage Type 2 Diabetes, (4), 6–8. https://investor.lilly.com/newsreleases/news-release-details/fda-approves-byettar-exenatide-injectionexpanded-combination accessed on 28/10/2020
- DiMeglio, L. A., Evans-Molina, C., & Oram, R. A. (2018). Type 1 diabetes. *The Lancet*, 391(10138), 2449–2462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31320-5
- Dinca, A., Chien, W. M., & Chin, M. T. (2016). Intracellular delivery of proteins with cell-penetrating peptides for therapeutic uses in human disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(2), 263. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17020263
- Dixit, Y., & Kar, A. (2010). Protective Role of Three Vegetable Peels in Alloxan Induced Diabetes Mellitus in Male Mice. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 65(3), 284–289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-010-0175-3
- Domecq, J. P., Prutsky, G., Leppin, A., Sonbol, M. B., Altayar, O., Undavalli, C., Wang, Z., Elraiyah, T., Brito, J. P., Mauck, K. F., Lababidi, M. H., Prokop, L. J., Asi, N., Wei, J., Fidahussein, S., Montori, V. M., & Murad, M. H. (2015). Drugs commonly associated with weight change: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *100*(2), 363– 370. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-3421
- Dunning, B. E., & Gerich, J. E. (2007). The role of  $\alpha$ -cell dysregulation in fasting and postprandial hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes and therapeutic implications. *Endocrine Reviews*, 28(3), 253–283. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2006-0026
- Eizirik, D. L., Colli, M. L., & Ortis, F. (2009). The role of inflammation in insulitis and B-cell loss in type 1 diabetes. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 5(4), 219– 226. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2009.21
- Eizirik, D. L., Sammeth, M., Bouckenooghe, T., Bottu, G., Sisino, G., Igoillo-Esteve, M., Ortis, F., Santin, I., Colli, M. L., Barthson, J., Bouwens, L., Hughes, L., Gregory, L., Lunter, G., Marselli, L., Marchetti, P., McCarthy, M. I., & Cnop, M. (2012). The human pancreatic islet transcriptome: Expression of candidate genes for type 1 diabetes and the impact of pro-inflammatory cytokines. *PLoS Genetics*, 8(3), e1002552. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002552
- El Karoui, K., Viau, A., Dellis, O., Bagattin, A., Nguyen, C., Baron, W., Burtin, M., Broueilh, M., Heidet, L., Mollet, G., Druilhe, A., Antignac, C., Knebelmann, B., Friedlander, G., Bienaimé, F., Gallazzini, M., & Terzi, F. (2016). Endoplasmic reticulum stress drives proteinuria-induced kidney lesions via Lipocalin 2. *Nature Communications*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10330
- Floyd, Z., & Stephens, J. M. (2002). Interferon-γ-mediated activation and ubiquitinproteasome-dependent degradation of PPARγ in adipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(6), 4062–4068. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M108473200

- Eun, K., Ae, E., Youl, J., Yi, C., Park, K., Jin, Z., Eun, J., Horvath, T. L., & Seob, G. (2018). Myeloid sirtuin1 deficiency aggravates hippocampal in fl ammation in mice fed high-fat diets. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*,499, 1025–1031. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.04.044
- Flint, A., Raben, A., Astrup, A., & Holst, J. J. (1998). Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101(3), 515–520. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI990
- Florin, L., Hummerich, L., Dittrich, B. T., Kokocinski, F., Wrobel, G., Gack, S., Schorpp-Kistner, M., Werner, S., Hahn, M., Lichter, P., Szabowski, A., & Angel, P. (2004). Identification of novel AP-1 target genes in fibroblasts regulated during cutaneous wound healing. *Oncogene*, 23(42), 7005–7017. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207938
- Flower, D. R. (1994). The lipocalin protein family: A role in cell regulation. *FEBS Letters*, 354(1), 7–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(94)01078-1
- Fonseca, V. A., Devries, J. H., Henry, R. R., Donsmark, M., Thomsen, H. F., & Plutzky, J. (2014). Reductions in systolic blood pressure with liraglutide in patients with type 2 diabetes: Insights from a patient-level pooled analysis of six randomized clinical trials. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, 28(3), 399–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.01.009
- Fujishiro, M., Gotoh, Y., Katagiri, H., Sakoda, H., Ogihara, T., Anai, M., Onishi, Y., Ono, H., Abe, M., Shojima, N., Fukushima, Y., Kikuchi, M., Oka, Y., & Asano, T. (2003). Three mitogen-activated protein kinases inhibit insulin signaling by different mechanisms in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 17(3), 487–497. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2002-0131
- Furutani, M., Arii, S., Mizumoto, M., Kato, M., & Imamura, M. (1998). Identification of a neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin mRNA in human pancreatic cancers using a modified signal sequence trap method. *Cancer Letters*, 122(1–2), 209–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3835(97)00391-1
- Gao, X., Cai, X., Yang, W., Chen, Y., Han, X., & Ji, L. (2018). Meta-analysis and critical review on the efficacy and safety of alpha-glucosidase inhibitors in Asian and non-Asian populations. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*, 9(2), 321– 331. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12711
- Garay-rojas, E., Harper, M., Hraba-renevey, S., & Kress, M. (1996). An apparent autocrine mechanism amplifies the dexamethasone- and retinoic acid-induced expression of mouse lipocalin-encoding gene 24p3. Gene 170(2), 173–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(95)00896-9
- Goetz, D. H., Willie, S. T., Armen, R. S., Bratt, T., Borregaard, N., & Strong, R. K. (2000). Ligand preference inferred from the structure of neutrophil gelatinase associated lipocalin. *Biochemistry*, 39(8), 1935–1941. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi992215v

- Gonzalez-Duque, S., Azoury, M. E., Colli, M. L., Afonso, G., Turatsinze, J. V., Nigi, L., Lalanne, A. I., Sebastiani, G., Carré, A., Pinto, S., Culina, S., Corcos, N., Bugliani, M., Marchetti, P., Armanet, M., Diedisheim, M., Kyewski, B., Steinmetz, L. M., Buus, S., ... Mallone, R. (2018). Conventional and Neo-antigenic Peptides Presented by β Cells Are Targeted by Circulating Naïve CD8+ T Cells in Type 1 Diabetic and Healthy Donors. *Cell Metabolism*, 28(6), 946-960.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.07.007
- Greenbaum, C. J., Speake, C., Krischer, J., Buckner, J., Gottlieb, P. A., Schatz, D. A., Herold, K. C., & Atkinson, M. A. (2018). Strength in numbers: Opportunities for enhancing the development of effective treatments for type 1 diabetes—the trialnet experience. *Diabetes*, 67(7), 1216–1225. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0065
- Guo, H., Foncea, R., Byrne, S. M. O., Jiang, H., Zhang, Y., Deis, J. A., Blaner, W. S., Bernlohr, D. A., & Chen, X. (2016). Lipocalin 2, a Regulator of Retinoid Homeostasis and Retinoid-mediated Thermogenic Activation in Adipose. *J Biol Chem*, 291(21), 11216–11229. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.711556
- Guo, H., Jin, D., Zhang, Y., Wright, W., Bazuine, M., Brockman, D. A., Bernlohr, D. A., & Chen, X. (2010). Lipocalin-2 deficiency impairs thermogenesis and potentiates diet-induced insulin resistance in mice. *Diabetes*, 59(6), 1376–1385. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-1735
- Gupta, K., Shukla, M., Cowland, J. B., Malemud, C. J., & Haqqi, T. M. (2007). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin is expressed in osteoarthritis and forms a complex with matrix metalloproteinase 9. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 56(10), 3326–3335. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.22879
- Halabian, R., Tehrani, H. A., Jahanian-Najafabadi, A., & Habibi Roudkenar, M. (2013). Lipocalin-2-mediated upregulation of various antioxidants and growth factors protects bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells against unfavorable microenvironments. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, 18(6), 785–800. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-013-0430-2
- Hayden, M. S., & Ghosh, S. (2008). Shared Principles in NF-κB Signaling. *Cell*, *132*(3), 344–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.020
- Hemdahl, A. L., Gabrielsen, A., Zhu, C., Eriksson, P., Hedin, U., Kastrup, J., Thorén, P., & Hansson, G. K. (2006). Expression of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 26(1), 136–142. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000193567.88685.f4
- Heni, M., Stefan, N., & Fritsche, A. (2012). Impairment of GLP1-induced insulin secretion: role of genetic background, insulin resistance and hyperglycaemia. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 14, 85–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2012.01648.x.
- Henquin, J. C., & Rahier, J. (2011). Pancreatic alpha cell mass in European subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 54(7), 1720–1725. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-011-2118-4

- Herman, G. A., Bergman, A., Stevens, C., Kotey, P., Yi, B., Zhao, P., Dietrich, B., Golor, G., Schrodter, A., Keymeulen, B., Lasseter, K. C., Kipnes, M. S., Snyder, K., Hilliard, D., Tanen, M., Cilissen, C., De Smet, M., De Lepeleire, I., Van Dyck, K., ... Wagner, J. A. (2006). Effect of single oral doses of sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, on incretin and plasma glucose levels after an oral glucose tolerance test in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *91*(11), 4612–4619. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-1009
- Herold, K. C., Bundy, B. N., Long, S. A., Bluestone, J. A., DiMeglio, L. A., Dufort, M. J., Gitelman, S. E., Gottlieb, P. A., Krischer, J. P., Linsley, P. S., Marks, J. B., Moore, W., Moran, A., Rodriguez, H., Russell, W. E., Schatz, D., Skyler, J. S., Tsalikian, E., Wherrett, D. K., ... Greenbaum, C. J. (2019). An Anti-CD3 Antibody, Teplizumab, in Relatives at Risk for Type 1 Diabetes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *381*(7), 603–613. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1902226
- Hogan, J. C., & Stephens, J. M. (2003). STAT 1 binds to the LPL promoter in vitro. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 307(2), 350–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(03)01198-7
- Holmes, M. A., Paulsene, W., Jide, X., Ratledge, C., & Strong, R. K. (2005). Siderocalin (Lcn 2) also binds carboxymycobactins, potentially defending against mycobacterial infections through iron sequestration. *Structure*, *13*(1), 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2004.10.009
- Horton, E. S. (1988). Role and management of exercise in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 11(2), 201–211. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.11.2.201
- Huang, H. L., Chu, S. T., & Chen, Y. H. (1999). Ovarian steroids regulate 24p3 expression in mouse uterus during the natural estrous cycle and the preimplantation period. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 162(1), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1620011
- Huang, Y., Yang, Z., Ye, Z., Li, Q., Wen, J., Tao, X., Chen, L., He, M., Wang, X., Lu, B., Zhang, Z., Zhang, W., Qu, S., & Hu, R. (2012). Lipocalin-2, glucose metabolism and chronic low-grade systemic inflammation in Chinese people. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, 11, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2840-11-11
- Hughes, K. J., Chambers, K. T., Meares, G. P., & Corbett, J. A. (2009). Nitric oxides mediates a shift from early necrosis to late apoptosis in cytokine-treated β-cells that is associated with irreversible DNA damage. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 297(5), 1187–1196. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00214.2009
- Hvidberg, V., Jacobsen, C., Strong, R. K., Cowland, J. B., Moestrup, S. K., & Borregaard, N. (2005). The endocytic receptor megalin binds the iron transporting neutrophil-gelatinase-associated lipocalin with high affinity and mediates its cellular uptake. *FEBS Letters*, 579(3), 773–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2004.12.031
- Ilonen, J., Lempainen, J., & Veijola, R. (2019). The heterogeneous pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 15(11), 635–650. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0254-y

- Jiang, Y. F., Chen, X. Y., Ding, T., Wang, X. F., Zhu, Z. N., & Su, S. W. (2015). Comparative efficacy and safety of OADs in management of GDM: Network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 100(5), 2071–2080. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-4403
- Kaestner, K. H., Powers, A. C., Naji, A., & Atkinson, M. A. (2019). NIH initiative to improve understanding of the pancreas, islet, and autoimmunity in type 1 diabetes: The Human Pancreas Analysis Program (HPAP). *Diabetes*, 68(7), 1394–1402. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-0058
- Kamble, P. G., Pereira, M. J., Almby, K., & Eriksson, J. W. (2019). Estrogen interacts with glucocorticoids in the regulation of lipocalin 2 expression in human adipose tissue. Reciprocal roles of estrogen receptor α and β in insulin resistance? *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 490(4), 28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2019.04.002
- Kanaka-gantenbein, C., Margeli, A., Pervanidou, P., Sakka, S., Mastorakos, G., Chrousos, G. P., & Papassotiriou, I. (2008). Retinol-Binding Protein 4 and Lipocalin-2 in Childhood and Adolescent Obesity : When Children Are Not Just "Small Adults" *Clinical Chemistry*, 1182. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2007.099002
- Kang, S. S., Ren, Y., Liu, C. C., Kurti, A., Baker, K. E., Bu, G., Asmann, Y., & Fryer, J. D. (2018). Lipocalin-2 protects the brain during inflammatory conditions. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(2), 344–350. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.243
- Kangelaris, K. N., Prakash, A., Liu, K. D., Aouizerat, B., Woodruff, P. G., Erle, D. J., Rogers, A., Seeley, E. J., Chu, J., Liu, T., Osterberg-Deiss, T., Zhuo, H., Matthay, M. A., & Calfee, C. S. (2015). Increased expression of neutrophil-related genes in patients with early sepsis-induced ARDS. *American Journal of Physiology Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 308(11), L1102–L1113. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00380.2014
- Katano, M., Okamoto, K., Arito, M., Kawakami, Y., Kurokawa, M. S., Suematsu, N., Shimada, S., Nakamura, H., Xiang, Y., Masuko, K., Nishioka, K., Yudoh, K., & Kato, T. (2009). Implication of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor induced neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis revealed by proteome analysis. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 11(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2587
- Kaufman, F. R. (2003). Type 1 diabetes mellitus. Joslin's Diabetes Mellitus: Fourteenth Edition, 24(9), 399–424.
- Kaur, S., Baine, M. J., Guha, S., Ochi, N., Chakraborty, S., Mallya, K., Thomas, C., Crook, J., Wallace, M. B., Woodward, T. A., Jain, M., Singh, S., Sasson, A. R., Skinner, V., Raimondo, M., & Batra, S. K. (2013). Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin, Macrophage Inhibitory Cytokine 1, and Carbohydrate Antigen 19-9 in Pancreatic Juice. *Pancreas*, 42(3), 494–501. https://doi.org/10.1097/mpa.0b013e31826a8597

- Kim, E. K., & Choi, E. J. (2010). Pathological roles of MAPK signaling pathways in human diseases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1802(4), 396–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.12.009
- Kjeldsen, L., Johnsen, A. H., Sengelov, H., & Borregaard, N. (1993). Isolation and primary structure of NGAL, a novel protein associated with human neutrophil gelatinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(14), 10425–10432.
- Kjeldsen, Lars, Cowland, J. B., & Borregaard, N. (2000). Human neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin and homologous proteins in rat and mouse. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology*, 1482(1–2), 272–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4838(00)00152-7
- Kobara, H., Miyamoto, T., Suzuki, A., Asaka, R., Yamada, Y., Ishikawa, K., Kikuchi, N., Ohira, S., & Shiozawa, T. (2013). Lipocalin2 enhances the matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity and invasion of extravillous trophoblasts under hypoxia. *Placenta*, 34(11), 1036–1043. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2013.08.004
- Kolattukudy, P. E., & Niu, J. (2012). Inflammation, endoplasmic reticulum stress, autophagy, and the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/CCR2 pathway. *Circulation Research*, 110(1), 174–189. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.243212
- Korrapati, M. C., Shaner, B. E., Neely, B. A., Alge, J. L., Arthur, J. M., & Schnellmann, R. G. (2012). Diabetes-Induced Renal Injury in Rats Is Attenuated by Suramin. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 343(1), 34–43. doi: 10.1124/jpet.112.196964.
- Kratchmarova, I., Kalume, D. E., Blagoev, B., Scherer, P. E., Podtelejnikov, A. V., Molina, H., Bickel, P. E., Andersen, J. S., Fernandez, M. M., Bunkenborg, J., Roepstorff, P., Kristiansen, K., Lodish, H. F., Mann, M., & Pandey, A. (2002). A proteomic approach for identification of secreted proteins during the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes to adipocytes. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics : MCP*, 1(3), 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M200006-MCP200
- Kristiansen, O. P., & Mandrup-Poulsen, T. (2004). Interleukin-6 and Diabetes The Good, the Bad, or the Indifferent? *Computing in Science and Engineering*, *6*(6), 3–3. https://doi.org/10.1109/mcse.2004.67
- Krogvold, L., Skog, O., Sundström, G., Edwin, B., Buanes, T., Hanssen, K. F., Ludvigsson, J., Grabherr, M., Korsgren, O., & Dahl-Jørgensen, K. (2015).
  Function of isolated pancreatic islets from patients at onset of type 1 diabetes: Insulin secretion can be restored after some days in a nondiabetogenic environment in vitro results from the divid study. *Diabetes*, 64(7), 2506–2512. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-1911
- Kümpers, P., Hafer, C., Lukasz, A., Lichtinghagen, R., Brand, K., Fliser, D., Faulhaber-Walter, R., & Kielstein, J. T. (2010). Serum neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin at inception of renal replacement therapy predicts survival in critically ill patients with acute kidney injury. *Critical Care*, 14(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc8861

- Lam, C. J., Chatterjee, A., Shen, E., Cox, A. R., & Kushner, J. A. (2019). Low-level insulin content within abundant non-b islet endocrine cells in long-standing type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 68(3), 598–608. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0305
- Lambertz, J., Berger, T., Mak, T. W., & Helden, J. Van. (2017). Lipocalin-2 in Fructose-Induced Fatty Liver Disease. 8(11), 964. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00964
- Law, I. K. M., Xu, A., Lam, K. S. L., Berger, T., Mak, T. W., Vanhoutte, P. M., Liu, J. T. C., Sweeney, G., Zhou, M., Yang, B., & Wang, Y. (2010). Lipocalin-2 deficiency attenuates insulin resistance associated with aging and obesity. *Diabetes*, 59(4), 872–882. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-1541
- Lee, S., Park, J. Y., Lee, W. H., Kim, H., Park, H. C., Mori, K., & Suk, K. (2009). Lipocalin-2 is an autocrine mediator of reactive astrocytosis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(1), 234–249. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5273-08.2009
- Li, S., Chen, H., Wang, J., Wang, X., Hu, B., & Lv, F. (2015). Involvement of the PI3K/Akt signal pathway in the hypoglycemic effects of tea polysaccharides on diabetic mice. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 81, 967– 974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.09.037
- Lin, Y., Rajala, M. W., Berger, J. P., Moller, D. E., Barzilai, N., & Scherer, P. E. (2001). Hyperglycemia-induced Production of Acute Phase Reactants in Adipose Tissue. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(45), 42077–42083. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M107101200
- Liu, F., Yang, H., Chen, H., Zhang, M., & Ma, Q. (2015). Advances in Medical Sciences High expression of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) in the kidney proximal tubules of diabetic rats. *Advances in Medical Sciences*, 60(1), 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advms.2015.01.001
- Liu, X., Hamnvik, O. P. R., Petrou, M., Gong, H., Chamberland, J. P., Christophi, C. A., Kales, S. N., Christiani, D. C., & Mantzoros, C. S. (2011). Circulating lipocalin 2 is associated with body fat distribution at baseline but is not an independent predictor of insulin resistance: The prospective Cyprus Metabolism Study. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, *165*(5), 805–812. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-11-0660
- Livingstone, S. J., Levin, D., Looker, H. C., Lindsay, R. S., Wild, S. H., Joss, N., Leese, G., Leslie, P., McCrimmon, R. J., Metcalfe, W., McKnight, J. A., Morris, A. D., Pearson, D. W. M., Petrie, J. R., Philip, S., Sattar, N. A., Traynor, J. P., & Colhoun, H. M. (2015). Estimated life expectancy in a scottish cohort with type 1 diabetes, 2008-2010. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*, 313(1), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.16425
- Lyssenko, V., Almgren, P., Anevski, D., Perfekt, R., Lahti, K., Nissén, M., Isomaa, B., Forsen, B., Homström, N., Saloranta, C., Taskinen, M. R., Groop, L., & Tuomi, T. (2005). Predictors of and longitudinal changes in insulin sensitivity and secretion preceding onset of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 54(1), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.54.1.166

- Lyu, X., Zhu, X., Zhao, B., Du, L., Chen, D., Wang, C., Liu, G., & Ran, X. (2017). Effects of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors on beta-cell function and insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes: Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Scientific Reports*, 7(37), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep44865
- Madiraju, A. K., Erion, D. M., Rahimi, Y., Zhang, X. M., Braddock, D. T., Albright, R. A., Prigaro, B. J., Wood, J. L., Bhanot, S., MacDonald, M. J., Jurczak, M. J., Camporez, J. P., Lee, H. Y., Cline, G. W., Samuel, V. T., Kibbey, R. G., & Shulman, G. I. (2014). Metformin suppresses gluconeogenesis by inhibiting mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase. *Nature*, *510*(7506), 542–546. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13270
- Mallbris, L., O'Brien, K. P., Hulthén, A., Sandstedt, B., Cowland, J. B., Borregaard, N., & Ståhle-Bäckdahl, M. (2002). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin is a marker for dysregulated keratinocyte differentiation in human skin. *Experimental Dermatology*, 11(6), 584–591. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0625.2002.110611.x
- Marchetti, P., Dotta, F., Ling, Z., Lupi, R., Del Guerra, S., Santangelo, C., Realacci, M., Marselli, L., Di Mario, U., & Navalesi, R. (2000). Function of pancreatic islets isolated from a type 1 diabetic patient [3]. *Diabetes Care*, 23(5), 701–703. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.23.5.701
- Marhfour, I., Lopez, X. M., Lefkaditis, D., Salmon, I., Allagnat, F., Richardson, S. J., Morgan, N. G., & Eizirik, D. L. (2012). Expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress markers in the islets of patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 55(9), 2417–2420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-012-2604-3
- Marques, F., Mesquita, S. D., Sousa, J. C., Coppola, G., Gao, F., Geschwind, D. H., Columba-Cabezas, S., Aloisi, F., Degn, M., Cerqueira, J. J., Sousa, N., Correia-Neves, M., & Palha, J. A. (2012). Lipocalin 2 is present in the EAE brain and is modulated by natalizumab. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 6(AUG), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2012.00033
- Marre, M., Shaw, J., Brändle, M., Bebakar, W. M. W., Kamaruddin, N. A., Strand, J., Zdravkovic, M., Le Thi, T. D., & Colagiuri, S. (2009). Liraglutide, a oncedaily human GLP-1 analogue, added to a sulphonylurea over 26 weeks produces greater improvements in glycaemic and weight control compared with adding rosiglitazone or placebo in subjects with Type 2 diabetes (LEAD-1 SU). *Diabetic Medicine*, 26(3), 268–278. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02666.x
- Marroqui, L., Dos Santos, R. S., Op de beeck, A., Coomans de Brachène, A., Marselli, L., Marchetti, P., & Eizirik, D. L. (2017). Interferon-α mediates human beta cell HLA class I overexpression, endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis, three hallmarks of early human type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 60(4), 656–667. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-4201-3
- Marroqui, L., Lopes, M., dos Santos, R. S., Grieco, F. A., Roivainen, M., Richardson, S. J., Morgan, N. G., de Beeck, A. O., & Eizirik, D. L. (2015). Differential cell autonomous responses determine the outcome of coxsackievirus infections in murine pancreatic α and β cells. *ELife*, 4(6), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.06990

- Marroqui, L., Masini, M., Merino, B., Grieco, F. A., Millard, I., Dubois, C., Quesada, I., Marchetti, P., Cnop, M., & Eizirik, D. L. (2015). Pancreatic α Cells are Resistant to Metabolic Stress-induced Apoptosis in Type 2 Diabetes. *EBioMedicine*, 2(5), 378–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.03.012
- Mastracci, T. L., Turatsinze, J. V., Book, B. K., Restrepo, I. A., Pugia, M. J., Wiebke, E. A., Pescovitz, M. D., Eizirik, D. L., & Mirmira, R. G. (2018). Distinct gene expression pathways in islets from individuals with short- and long-duration type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 20(8), 1859– 1867. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13298
- Meenatchi, P., Purushothaman, A., & Maneemegalai, S. (2017). Antioxidant, antiglycation and insulinotrophic properties of Coccinia grandis (L.) in vitro: Possible role in prevention of diabetic complications. *Journal of Traditional and Complementary Medicine*, 7(1), 54–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcme.2016.01.002
- Meneghini, L. F., Orozco-Beltran, D., Khunti, K., Caputo, S., Damçi, T., Liebl, A., & Ross, S. A. (2011). Weight beneficial treatments for type 2 diabetes. *Journal* of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 96(11), 3337–3353. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-1074
- Mishra, J., Qing, M. A., Prada, A., Mitsnefes, M., Zahedi, K., Yang, J., Barasch, J., & Devarajan, P. (2003). Identification of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as a novel early urinary biomarker for ischemic renal injury. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 14(10), 2534–2543. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000088027.54400.C6
- Moreno-Navarrete, J. M., Manco, M., Ibãez, J., García-Fuentes, E., Ortega, F., Gorostiaga, E., Vendrell, J., Izquierdo, M., Martínez, C., Nolfe, G., Ricart, W., Mingrone, G., Tinahones, F., & Fernández-Real, J. M. (2010). Metabolic endotoxemia and saturated fat contribute to circulating NGAL concentrations in subjects with insulin resistance. *International Journal of Obesity*, 34(2), 240– 249. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2009.242
- Morgan, N. G., & Richardson, S. J. (2018). Fifty years of pancreatic islet pathology in human type 1 diabetes: insights gained and progress made. *Diabetologia*, *61*(12), 2499–2506. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4731-y
- Mosialou, I., Shikhel, S., Luo, N., Petropoulou, P. I., Panitsas, K., Bisikirska, B., Rothman, N. J., Tenta, R., Cariou, B., Matthieu, W., Sornay-Rendu, E., Nickolas, T., Rubin, M., Confavreux, C. B., & Kousteni, S. (2020). Lipocalin-2 counteracts metabolic dysregulation in obesity and diabetes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 217(10). https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20191261
- Naderpoor, N., Shorakae, S., De Courten, B., Misso, M. L., Moran, L. J., & Teede, H. J. (2015). Metformin and lifestyle modification in polycysticovary syndrome: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Human Reproduction Update*, 21(5), 560–574. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmv025
- Nairz, M., Theurl, I., Schroll, A., Theurl, M., Fritsche, G., Lindner, E., Seifert, M., Crouch, M. L. V., Hantke, K., Akira, S., Fang, F. C., & Weiss, G. (2009). Absence of functional Hfe protects mice from invasive Salmonella enterica

Serovar Typhimurium infection via induction of lipocalin-2. *Blood*, *114*(17), 3642–3651. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-05-223354

- Nam, Y., Kim, J. H., Seo, M., Kim, J. H., Jin, M., Jeon, S., Seo, J. W., Lee, W. H., Bing, S. J., Jee, Y., Lee, W. K., Park, D. H., Kook, H., & Suk, K. (2014). Lipocalin-2 protein deficiency ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: The pathogenic role of lipocalin-2 in the central nervous system and peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(24), 16773–16789. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.542282
- Nauck, M. A., Heimesaat, M. M., Orskov, C., Holst, J. J., Ebert, R., & Creutzfeldt, W. (1993). Preserved incretin activity of glucagon-like peptide 1 [7-36 amide] but not of synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 91(1), 301–307. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116186
- Nielsen, L. L., Young, A. A., & Parkes, D. G. (2004). Pharmacology of exenatide (synthetic exendin-4): A potential therapeutic for improved glycemic control of type 2 diabetes. *Regulatory Peptides*, 117(2), 77–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2003.10.028
- Ortis, F., Naamane, N., Flamez, D., Ladrie, L., Moore, F., Cunha, D. a, Colli, M. L., Thykjaer, T., Thorsen, K., Ørntoft, T. F., & Eizirik, D. L. (2010). Cytokines interleukin-1b and TNF-a regulate different transcriptional and alternative splicing networks in primary beta cells. *Diabetes*, 59, 358–374. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-1159.F.O.
- Owen, H. C., Roberts, S. J., Ahmed, S. F., & Farquharson, C. (2008). Dexamethasone-induced expression of the glucocorticoid response gene lipocalin 2 in chondrocytes. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology* and Metabolism, 294(6). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00586.2007
- Padgett, L. E., Broniowska, K. A., Hansen, P. A., Corbett, J. A., & Tse, H. M. (2013). The role of reactive oxygen species and proinflammatory cytokines in type 1 diabetes pathogenesis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1281*(1), 16–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06826.x
- Pappachan, J. M. (2015). Incretin manipulation in diabetes management. World Journal of Diabetes, 6(6), 774. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i6.774
- Patterson, C. C., Harjutsalo, V., Rosenbauer, J., Neu, A., Cinek, O., Skrivarhaug, T., Rami-Merhar, B., Soltesz, G., Svensson, J., Parslow, R. C., Castell, C., Schoenle, E. J., Bingley, P. J., Dahlquist, G., Jarosz-Chobot, P. K., Marčiulionytė, D., Roche, E. F., Rothe, U., Bratina, N., ... Green, A. (2019). Trends and cyclical variation in the incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes in 26 European centres in the 25 year period 1989–2013: a multicentre prospective registration study. *Diabetologia*, *62*(3), 408–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4763-3
- Pearson, E. R. (2019). Type 2 diabetes: a multifaceted disease. *Diabetologia*, 62(7), 1107–1112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-4909-y

- Petropoulou, P. I., Mosialou, I., Shikhel, S., Hao, L., Panitsas, K., Bisikirska, B., Luo, N., Bahna, F., Kim, J., Carberry, P., Zanderigo, F., Simpson, N., Bakalian, M., Kassir, S., Shapiro, L., Underwood, M. D., May, C. M., Sai, K. K. S., Jorgensen, M. J., ... Kousteni, S. (2020). Lipocalin-2 is an anorexigenic signal in primates. *ELife*, 9, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.58949
- Ping Caoa, Peter Mareka, Harris Noora, Vadim Patsalob, Ling-Hsien Tua, Hui Wanga, Andisheh Abedinic, and D. P. R. (2013). IAPP fold Cao 2013. *NIH Public Access*, 23(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.01.046.Islet
- Pociot, F., & Lernmark, Å. (2016). Genetic risk factors for type 1 diabetes. *The Lancet*, *387*(10035), 2331–2339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30582-7
- Pospisilik, J. A., Stafford, S. G., Demuth, H. U., Brownsey, R., Parkhouse, W., Finegood, D. T., McIntosh, C. H. S., & Pederson, R. A. (2002). Long-term treatment with the dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor P32/98 causes sustained improvements in glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity, hyperinsulinemia, and βcell glucose responsiveness in VDF (fa/fa) Zucker rats. *Diabetes*, 51(4), 943– 950. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.51.4.943
- Prusty, D., Park, B. H., Davis, K. E., & Farmer, S. R. (2002). Activation of MEK/ERK signaling promotes adipogenesis by enhancing peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPARγ) and C/EBPα gene expression during the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(48), 46226–46232. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M207776200
- Pugliese, A., Yang, M., Kusmarteva, I., Heiple, T., Vendrame, F., Wasserfall, C., Rowe, P., Moraski, J. M., Ball, S., Jebson, L., Schatz, D. A., Gianani, R., Burke, G. W., Nierras, C., Staeva, T., Kaddis, J. S., Campbell-Thompson, M., & Atkinson, M. A. (2014). The Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation Network for Pancreatic Organ Donors with Diabetes (nPOD) Program: Goals, operational model and emerging findings. *Pediatric Diabetes*, *15*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.12097
- Puttagunta, A. L., & Toth, E. L. (1998). Insulin lispro (Humalog), the first marketed insulin analogue: Indications, contraindications and need for further study. *Cmaj*, 158(4), 506–511.
- Quispe-Tintaya, W. (2017). Viral infections in type 1 diabetes mellitus why the β cells?. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 12, 263–273. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2016.30
- Radford, I. R. (1990). Rapid Communication. International Journal of Radiation Biology, 57(3), 479–483. https://doi.org/10.1080/09553009014552621
- Rahier, J., Guiot, Y., Goebbels, R. M., Sempoux, C., & Henquin, J. C. (2008). Pancreatic β-cell mass in European subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 10(4), 32–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1326.2008.00969.x

- Raleigh, D., Zhang, X., Hastoy, B., & Clark, A. (2017). The β-cell assassin: IAPP cytotoxicity. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 59(3), R121–R140. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-17-0105
- Rena, G., Pearson, E. R., & Sakamoto, K. (2013). Molecular mechanism of action of metformin: Old or new insights? *Diabetologia*, 56(9), 1898–1906. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-013-2991-0
- Risk, N. C. D., & Collaboration, F. (2016). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. *Lancet (London, England)*, 387(10027), 1513–1530. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00618-8
- Rodriguez-Calvo, T., Richardson, S. J., & Pugliese, A. (2018). Pancreas Pathology During the Natural History of Type 1 Diabetes. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 18(11). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-018-1084-3
- Roudkenar, M. H., Halabian, R., Bahmani, P., Roushandeh, A. M., Kuwahara, Y., & Fukumoto, M. (2011). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin: A new antioxidant that exerts its cytoprotective effect independent on Heme Oxygenase-1. *Free Radical Research*, 45(7), 810–819. https://doi.org/10.3109/10715762.2011.581279
- Roudkenar, M. H., Halabian, R., Ghasemipour, Z., Roushandeh, A. M., Rouhbakhsh, M., Nekogoftar, M., Kuwahara, Y., Fukumoto, M., & Shokrgozar, M. A. (2008). Neutrophil Gelatinase-associated Lipocalin Acts as a Protective Factor against H2O2 Toxicity. *Archives of Medical Research*, 39(6), 560–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2008.05.003
- Roudkenar, M. H., Halabian, R., Roushandeh, A. M., Nourani, M. R., Masroori, N., Ebrahimi, M., Nikogoftar, M., Rouhbakhsh, M., Bahmani, P., Najafabadi, A. J., & Shokrgozar, M. A. (2009). Lipocalin 2 regulation by thermal stresses: Protective role of Lcn2/NGAL against cold and heat stresses. *Experimental Cell Research*, 315(18), 3140–3151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.08.019
- Roudkenar, M. H., Kuwahara, Y., Baba, T., Roushandeh, A. M., Ebishima, S., Abe, S., Ohkubo, Y., & Fukumoto, M. (2007). Oxidative stress induced lipocalin 2 gene expression: Addressing its expression under the harmful conditions. *Journal of Radiation Research*, 48(1), 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1269/jrr.06057
- Russell-Jones, D., Vaag, A., Schmitz, O., Sethi, B. K., Lalic, N., Antic, S., Zdravkovic, M., Ravn, G. M., & Simó, R. (2009). Liraglutide vs insulin glargine and placebo in combination with metformin and sulfonylurea therapy in type 2 diabetes mellitus (LEAD-5 met+SU): A randomised controlled trial. *Diabetologia*, 52(10), 2046–2055. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-009-1472-y
- Santos, F. L., Esteves, S. S., da Costa Pereira, A., Yancy, W. S., & Nunes, J. P. L. (2012). Systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials of the effects of low carbohydrate diets on cardiovascular risk factors. *Obesity Reviews*, 13(11), 1048–1066. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.01021.x

- Sattar, N., Rawshani, A., Franzén, S., Rawshani, A., Svensson, A. M., Rosengren, A., Mcguire, D. K., Eliasson, B., & Gudbjörnsdottir, S. (2019). Age at Diagnosis of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Associations With Cardiovascular and Mortality Risks: Findings From the Swedish National Diabetes Registry. *Circulation*, 139(19), 2228–2237. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.037885
- Scarim, A. L., Heitmeier, M. R., & Corbett, J. A. (1997). Irreversible inhibition of metabolic function and islet destruction after a 36-hour exposure to interleukinlbeta. *Endocrinology*, 138(12), 5301–5307. doi: 10.1210/endo.138.12.5583
- Semba, T., Nishimura, M., Nishimura, S., Ohara, O., Ishige, T., Ohno, S., Nonaka, K., Sogawa, K., Satoh, M., Sawai, S., Matsushita, K., Imazeki, F., Yokosuka, O., & Nomura, F. (2013). The FLS (Fatty liver Shionogi) mouse reveals local expressions of lipocalin-2, CXCL1 and CXCL9 in the liver with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *BMC Gastroenterology*, *13*, *120*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-230X-13-120
- Seth, P., Porter, D., Lahti-domenici, J., Geng, Y., Richardson, A., & Polyak, K. (2002). Cellular and Molecular Targets of Estrogen in Normal Human Breast Tissue 1.*Cancer Research*, 4540–4544.
- Shao, S., Cao, T., Jin, L., Li, B., Fang, H., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Hu, J., & Wang, G. (2016). Increased Lipocalin-2 Contributes to the Pathogenesis of Psoriasis by Modulating Neutrophil Chemotaxis and Cytokine Secretion. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 136(7), 1418–1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2016.03.002
- Shen, F., Hu, Z., Goswami, J., & Gaffen, S. L. (2006). Identification of common transcriptional regulatory elements in interleukin-17 target genes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(34), 24138–24148. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M604597200
- Sims, E. K., Bahnson, H. T., Nyalwidhe, J., Haataja, L., Davis, A. K., Speake, C., DiMeglio, L. A., Blum, J., Morris, M. A., Mirmira, R. G., Nadler, J., Mastracci, T. L., Marcovina, S., Qian, W. J., Yi, L., Swensen, A. C., Yip-Schneider, M., Schmidt, C. M., Considine, R. V., ... Evans-Molina, C. (2019). Proinsulin secretion is a persistent feature of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 42(2), 258– 264. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-2625
- Singh, N., Kamath, V., & Rajini, P. S. (2005). Protective effect of potato peel powder in ameliorating oxidative stress in streptozotocin diabetic rats. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 60(2), 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-005-5099-y
- Slater, E. P., Fendrich, V., Strauch, K., Rospleszcz, S., Ramaswamy, A., Matthäi, E., Chaloupka, B., Gress, T. M., Langer, P., & Bartsch, D. K. (2013). LCN2 and TIMP1 as potential serum markers for the early detection of familial pancreatic cancer. *Translational Oncology*, 6(2), 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1593/tlo.12373
- Soukas, A., Cohen, P., Socci, N. D., & Friedman, J. M. (2000). Leptin-specific patterns of gene expression in white adipose tissue. *Genes & Development*, 963–980.

- Stenvinkel, P. (2010). Chronic kidney disease: A public health priority and harbinger of premature cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 268(5), 456– 467. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2010.02269.x
- Strandell, E., Eizirik, D. L., & Sandler, S. (1990). Reversal of β-cell suppression in vitro in pancreatic islets isolated from nonobese diabetic mice during the phase preceding insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 85(6), 1944–1950. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI114657
- Tak, B., Won, R., Ae, E., Yi, C., Youl, J., Eun, K., Kim, H., & Seob, G. (2016). Neurobiology of Aging Effects of caloric restriction on O-GlcNAcylation, Ca 2 b signaling, and learning impairment in the hippocampus of ob / ob mice. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 44, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.05.002
- Tamura, Y., Izumiyama-Shimomura, N., Kimbara, Y., Nakamura, K. I., Ishikawa, N., Aida, J., Chiba, Y., Mori, S., Arai, T., Aizawa, T., Araki, A., Takubo, K., & Ito, H. (2014). β-cell telomere attrition in diabetes: Inverse correlation between HbA1c and telomere length. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 99(8), 2771–2777. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-1222
- Tamura, Y., Izumiyama-Shimomura, N., Kimbara, Y., Nakamura, K. ichi, Ishikawa, N., Aida, J., Chiba, Y., Matsuda, Y., Mori, S., Arai, T., Fujiwara, M., Poon, S. S. S., Ishizaki, T., Araki, A., Takubo, K., & Ito, H. (2016). Telomere attrition in beta and alpha cells with age. *Age*, *38*(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-016-9923-0
- Tan, B. K., Adya, R., Shan, X., Syed, F., Lewandowski, K. C., O'hare, J. P., & Randeva, H. S. (2009). Ex vivo and in vivo regulation of lipocalin-2, a novel adipokine, by Insulin. *Diabetes Care*, 32(1), 129–131. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-1236
- Tang et al., (2010). Serum Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin (NGAL) in Predicting Worsening Renal Function in Acute Decompensated Heart Failure. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*, 16(1), 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardfail.2009.07.003
- Tenney, R., Stansfield, K., & Pekala, P. H. (2005). Interleukin 11 signaling in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 202(1), 160–166. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.20100
- Thomaidou, S., Zaldumbide, A., & Roep, B. O. (2018). Islet stress, degradation and autoimmunity. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 20(May), 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13387
- Thompson, P. J., Shah, A., Ntranos, V., Van Gool, F., Atkinson, M., & Bhushan, A. (2019). Targeted Elimination of Senescent Beta Cells Prevents Type 1 Diabetes. *Cell Metabolism*, 29(5), 1045-1060.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.01.021

- Thorel, F., Nepote, V., Avril, I., Kohno, K., Desgraz, R., Chera, S., Herrera, P. L., Népote, V., & Kohno, Kenji, Desgraz, R. (2010). Conversion of Adult Pancreatic alpha-cells to Beta-cells after Extreme Beta Cell Loss. *Nature*, 464(7292), 1149–1154. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08894.Conversion
- Todd, J. A. (2010). Etiology of Type 1 Diabetes. *Immunity*, *32*(4), 457–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.04.001
- Toft-Nielsen, M. B., Damholt, M. B., Madsbad, S., Hilsted, L. M., Hughes, T. E., Michelsen, B. K., & Holst, J. J. (2001). Determinants of the impaired secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 in type 2 diabetic patients. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 86(8), 3717–3723. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.86.8.7750
- Triebel, S., Bläser, J., Reinke, H., & Tschesche, H. (1992). A 25 kDa α2microglobulin-related protein is a component of the 125 kDa form of human gelatinase. *FEBS Letters*, *314*(3), 386–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(92)81511-J
- Utzschneider, K. M., Prigeon, R. L., Faulenbach, M. V., Tong, J., Carr, D. B., Boyko, E. J., Leonetti, D. L., McNeely, M. J., Fujimoto, W. Y., & Kahn, S. E. (2009). Oral Disposition index predicts the development of future diabetes above and beyond fasting and 2-h glucose levels. *Diabetes Care*, 32(2), 335– 341. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-1478
- Viau, A., El Karoui, K., Laouari, D., Burtin, M., Nguyen, C., Mori, K., Pillebout, E., Berger, T., Mak, T. W., Knebelmann, B., Friedlander, G., Barasch, J., & Terzi, F. (2010). Lipocalin 2 is essential for chronic kidney disease progression in mice and humans. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(11), 4065–4076. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI42004
- Vlieghe, P., Lisowski, V., Martinez, J., & Khrestchatisky, M. (2010). Synthetic therapeutic peptides: science and market. *Drug Discovery Today*, 15(1–2), 40– 56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2009.10.009
- Wang, J., & Wang, H. (2017). Oxidative stress in pancreatic beta cell regeneration. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1930261
- Wang, Y., Lam, K. S. L., Kraegen, E. W., Sweeney, G., Zhang, J., Tso, A. W. K., Chow, W. S., Wat, N. M. S., Xu, J. Y., Hoo, R. L. C., & Xu, A. (2007). Lipocalin-2 is an inflammatory marker closely associated with obesity, insulin resistance, and hyperglycemia in humans. *Clinical Chemistry*, 53(1), 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2006.075614
- Wazen, R. M., Kuroda, S., Nishio, C., Sellin, K., Brunski, J. B., & Nanci, A. (2015). The liver is the major source of elevated serum lipocalin-2 levels after bacterial infection or partial hepatectomy: a critical role for IL-6/STAT3. *Hepatology*, 61(2), 692–702. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.12.167.Gene

- Weyer, C., Bogardus, C., Mott, D. M., & Pratley, R. E. (1999). The natural history of insulin secretory dysfunction and insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 104(6), 787–794. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI7231
- Wilson, R., Belluoccio, D., Little, C. B., Fosang, A. J., & Bateman, J. F. (2008). Proteomic characterization of mouse cartilage degradation in vitro. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 58(10), 3120–3131. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23789
- Wu, L., Zhu, J., Prokop, L. J., & Hassan Murad, M. (2015). Pharmacologic Therapy of Diabetes and Overall Cancer Risk and Mortality: A Meta-Analysis of 265 Studies. *Scientific Reports*, 5(June), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep10147
- Xiong, H., Luo, T., He, W., Xi, D., Lu, H., Li, M., Liu, J., & Guo, Z. (2016). Upregulation of miR-138 inhibits hypoxia-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis via down-regulating lipocalin-2 expression. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 241(1), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370215591831
- Yamada, Y., Miyamoto, T., Kashima, H., Kobara, H., Asaka, R., Ando, H., Higuchi, S., Ida, K., & Shiozawa, T. (2016). Lipocalin 2 attenuates iron-related oxidative stress and prolongs the survival of ovarian clear cell carcinoma cells by upregulating the CD44 variant. *Free Radical Research*, 50(4), 414–425. https://doi.org/10.3109/10715762.2015.1134795
- Yan, Q., Yang, Q., Mody, N., Graham, T. E., Hsu, C., Xu, Z., Houstis, N. E., Kahn, B. B., & Rosen, E. D. (2007). The Adipokine Lipocalin 2 Is Regulated by Obesity and Promotes Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes*, 56(10), 2533–2540. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-0007.
- Yang, X. O., Seon, H. C., Park, H., Nurieva, R., Shah, B., Acero, L., Wang, Y. H., Schluns, K. S., Broaddus, R. R., Zhu, Z., & Dong, C. (2008). Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 205(5), 1063–1075. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20071978
- Ye, D., Yang, K., Zang, S., Lin, Z., Chau, H., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., Shi, J., Xu, A., Lin, S., & Wang, Y. (2016). Lipocalin-2 mediates non-alcoholic steatohepatitis by promoting neutrophil-macrophage crosstalk via the induction of CXCR2. *Journal of Hepatology*, 65(5), 988–997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2016.05.041
- Yndestad, A., Landrø, L., Ueland, T., Dahl, C. P., Flo, T. H., Vinge, L. E., Espevik, T., Frøland, S. S., Husberg, C., Christensen, G., Dickstein, K., Kjekshus, J., Øie, E., Gullestad, L., & Aukrust, P. (2009). Increased systemic and myocardial expression of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in clinical and experimental heart failure. *European Heart Journal*, 30(10), 1229–1236. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehp088
- Zeng, H., & Liu, Z. (2019). Atorvastatin induces hepatotoxicity in diabetic rats via oxidative stress, inflammation, and anti-apoptotic pathway. *Medical Science Monitor*, 25, 6165–6173. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.915790

- Zhang, J., Wu, Y., Zhang, Y., Leroith, D., Bernlohr, D. A., & Chen, X. (2008). The role of lipocalin 2 in the regulation of inflammation in adipocytes and macrophages. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 22(6), 1416–1426. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2007-0420
- Zhao, H., Li, S., Zhang, J., Che, G., Zhou, M., Liu, M., Zhang, C., Xu, N., Lin, L., Liu, Y., & Jia, L. (2016). The antihyperlipidemic activities of enzymatic and acidic intracellular polysaccharides by Termitomyces albuminosus. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 151, 1227–1234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.06.058
- Zhao, J., Chen, H., Zhang, M., Zhang, Y., Qian, C., Liu, Y., He, S., Zou, Y., & Liu, H. (2016). Early expression of serum neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) is associated with neurological severity immediately after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 368, 392–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2016.07.060
- Zhao, P., Elks, C. M., & Stephens, J. M. (2014). The induction of lipocalin-2 protein expression in vivo and in vitro. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(9), 5960– 5969. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.532234
- Zhao, P., & Stephens, J. M. (2013a). Identification of STAT target genes in adipocytes. *Jak-Stat*, *2*(2), e23092. https://doi.org/10.4161/jkst.23092
- Zhao, P., & Stephens, J. M. (2013b). STAT1, NF-κB and ERKs play a role in the induction of lipocalin-2 expression in adipocytes. *Molecular Metabolism*, 2(3), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2013.04.003
- Zheng, Y., Ley, S. H., & Hu, F. B. (2018). Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 14(2), 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.151
- Zhou, G., Goodyear, L. J., Moller, D. E., Zhou, G., Myers, R., Li, Y., Chen, Y., Shen, X., Fenyk-melody, J., Wu, M., Ventre, J., Doebber, T., Fujii, N., Musi, N., Hirshman, M. F., Goodyear, L. J., & Moller, D. E. (2001). Role of AMPactivated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action Find the latest version : Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 108(8), 1167–1174. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI200113505.
- Zvonic, S., Hogan, J. C., Arbour-Reily, P., Mynatt, R. L., & Stephens, J. M. (2004). Effects of cardiotrophin on adipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(46), 47572–47579. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M403998200



جامعة الإمارات العربية المتحدة United Arab Emirates University

